
FIN 1 

Millennium & CopthorneMillennium & CopthorneMillennium & CopthorneMillennium & Copthorne    Hotels New Zealand Limited Hotels New Zealand Limited Hotels New Zealand Limited Hotels New Zealand Limited 

Consolidated Income Statement 

For the year ended 31 December For the year ended 31 December For the year ended 31 December For the year ended 31 December 2022022022021111    
GroupGroupGroupGroup GroupGroupGroupGroup

DOLLARS IN THOUSANDSDOLLARS IN THOUSANDSDOLLARS IN THOUSANDSDOLLARS IN THOUSANDS    NoteNoteNoteNote    2022022022021111    2020202020202020    
((((ResResResRestated)tated)tated)tated)    ȃȃȃȃ    

Hotel revenue 55,247 64,078 
Rental income 1,942 2,180 
Property sales 107,583 105,724 
RevenueRevenueRevenueRevenue    111164646464,,,,777777772222    171171171171,,,,982982982982    

Cost of sales 3,10 (78,513) (79,815) 
Gross profitGross profitGross profitGross profit 86868686,,,,259259259259    92929292,,,,167167167167    

Other income 1(c) 15,870 - 
Administration expenses 2,3 (19,971) (20,588) 
Other operating expenses 2,3 (17,752) (18,533) 
Operating profit Operating profit Operating profit Operating profit  64646464,,,,406406406406    53535353,,,,046046046046    

Finance income 4 1,565 3,401 
Finance costs 4 (1,378) (2,029) 
Net finance incomeNet finance incomeNet finance incomeNet finance income    187187187187    1,1,1,1,372372372372    

Profit before income taxProfit before income taxProfit before income taxProfit before income tax 64646464,,,,593593593593    55554444,,,,418418418418    

Income tax expense 5 (13,871) 4,406 

Profit for the yearProfit for the yearProfit for the yearProfit for the year    55550000,,,,722722722722    55558888,,,,824824824824    

Attributable to:Attributable to:Attributable to:Attributable to: 
Owners of the parent 40,049 48,483 
Non-controlling interests 10,673 10,341 
Profit for the yearProfit for the yearProfit for the yearProfit for the year 55550000,,,,722722722722    55558888,,,,888824242424    

Basic earnings per share (cents) 8 25.31 30.64 
Diluted earnings per share (cents) 8 25.31 30.64 

Consolidated Statement of Comprehensive Income 

For the year ended 31 December For the year ended 31 December For the year ended 31 December For the year ended 31 December 2022022022021111 GroupGroupGroupGroup GroupGroupGroupGroup
DOLLARS IN THOUSANDSDOLLARS IN THOUSANDSDOLLARS IN THOUSANDSDOLLARS IN THOUSANDS    NoteNoteNoteNote    2022022022021111    2020202020202020    

((((ResResResRestated)tated)tated)tated)    ȃȃȃȃ 
Profit for the yearProfit for the yearProfit for the yearProfit for the year 55550000,,,,722722722722    55558888,,,,888824242424    

Other comprehensive incomeOther comprehensive incomeOther comprehensive incomeOther comprehensive income    

Items that are or may be reclassified to profit or lossItems that are or may be reclassified to profit or lossItems that are or may be reclassified to profit or lossItems that are or may be reclassified to profit or loss 
Foreign exchange translation movements 4 (326) 1,620 
- Tax credit on foreign exchange translation movements 4, 5 - - 

(326)(326)(326)(326)    1,6201,6201,6201,620    
Total comprehensive income for the yearTotal comprehensive income for the yearTotal comprehensive income for the yearTotal comprehensive income for the year    50505050,,,,396396396396    66660000,,,,444444444444    

Total comprehensive income for the year attributable to :Total comprehensive income for the year attributable to :Total comprehensive income for the year attributable to :Total comprehensive income for the year attributable to :    
Owners of the parent 39,723 50,103 
Non-controlling interests 10,673 10,341 
Total comprehensive income for the yearTotal comprehensive income for the yearTotal comprehensive income for the yearTotal comprehensive income for the year    50505050,,,,396396396396    60606060,,,,444444444444    

ȃȃȃȃ The comparative information is restated due to change iThe comparative information is restated due to change iThe comparative information is restated due to change iThe comparative information is restated due to change in accounting policyn accounting policyn accounting policyn accounting policy....    SeeSeeSeeSee    nnnnote 2ote 2ote 2ote 25555....

The accompanying notes form part of, and should be read in conjunction with, these financial statements



FIN 2 

Millennium & Copthorne Hotels New Zealand LimMillennium & Copthorne Hotels New Zealand LimMillennium & Copthorne Hotels New Zealand LimMillennium & Copthorne Hotels New Zealand Limited ited ited ited 

Consolidated Statement of Changes in Equity 

For the year ended 31 December For the year ended 31 December For the year ended 31 December For the year ended 31 December 2022022022021111    
GroupGroupGroupGroup    

Attributable to equity holders of the GroupAttributable to equity holders of the GroupAttributable to equity holders of the GroupAttributable to equity holders of the Group    

DOLLARS IN THOUSANDSDOLLARS IN THOUSANDSDOLLARS IN THOUSANDSDOLLARS IN THOUSANDS    

Share Share Share Share 

CapitalCapitalCapitalCapital    

Revaluation Revaluation Revaluation Revaluation 

ReserveReserveReserveReserve    

Exchange Exchange Exchange Exchange 

ReserveReserveReserveReserve    

Retained Retained Retained Retained 

EarningsEarningsEarningsEarnings    

Treasury Treasury Treasury Treasury 

StockStockStockStock    TotalTotalTotalTotal    

NonNonNonNon----

controllingcontrollingcontrollingcontrolling    

InterestsInterestsInterestsInterests    

Total Total Total Total 

EquityEquityEquityEquity    

Balance at 1 January 2021 383,266 - (1,699) 93,129 (26) 474,670 95,312 569,982 

Movement in exchange translation reserve, net of 

tax - - (326) - - (326) - (326)

Total other comprehensive income/(loss) - - (326) - - (326) - (326)

Profit for the year - - - 40,049 - 40,049 10,673 50,722

Total comprehensive income for the year - - (326) 40,049 - 39,723 10,673 50,396 

Transactions with owners, recorded 

directly in equity: 

Dividends paid to: 

 Owners of the parent - - - - - - - - 

     Non-controlling interests - - - - - - (3,914) (3,914) 

Supplementary dividends - - - - - - - - 

Foreign investment tax credits - - - - - - - - 

Movement in non-controlling interests 

without a change in control - - - (204) - (204) 1,539 1,335 

Balance at Balance at Balance at Balance at 31 December 31 December 31 December 31 December 2022022022021111    383,266383,266383,266383,266    ---- ((((2222,,,,025025025025)))) 132132132132,,,,974974974974    (26)(26)(26)(26) 514514514514,,,,189189189189 103103103103,,,,610610610610    617617617617,,,,777799999999    

he accompanying notes form part of, and should be read in conjunction with, these financial statements



FIN 3 

MillMillMillMillennium & Copthorne Hotels New Zealand Limited ennium & Copthorne Hotels New Zealand Limited ennium & Copthorne Hotels New Zealand Limited ennium & Copthorne Hotels New Zealand Limited 

Consolidated Statement of Changes in Equity 

For the year ended 31 December 20For the year ended 31 December 20For the year ended 31 December 20For the year ended 31 December 2020202020    
GroupGroupGroupGroup    

Attributable to equity holders of the GroupAttributable to equity holders of the GroupAttributable to equity holders of the GroupAttributable to equity holders of the Group    

DOLLARS IN THOUSANDSDOLLARS IN THOUSANDSDOLLARS IN THOUSANDSDOLLARS IN THOUSANDS    

Share Share Share Share 

CapitalCapitalCapitalCapital    

Revaluation Revaluation Revaluation Revaluation 

ReserveReserveReserveReserve    

Exchange Exchange Exchange Exchange 

ReserveReserveReserveReserve    

RetRetRetRetained ained ained ained 

EarningsEarningsEarningsEarnings    

Treasury Treasury Treasury Treasury 

StockStockStockStock    TotalTotalTotalTotal    

NonNonNonNon----

controlling controlling controlling controlling 

InterestsInterestsInterestsInterests    

Total Total Total Total 

EquityEquityEquityEquity    

Balance at 1 January 2020 383,266 274,495 (3,319) 60,837 (26) 715,253 91,747 807,000 

Impact of change in accounting policy - (274,495) - (4,275) - (278,770) (4,291) (283,061) 

Restated balance at 1 January 2020 - - (3,319) 56,562 (26) 436,483 87,456 523,939 

Movement in exchange translation reserve, net of 

tax  - - 1,620 - - 1,620 - 1,620

Total other comprehensive income/(loss) - - 1,620 - - 1,620 - 1,620

Profit for the year - - - 48,483 - 48,483 10,341 58,824

Restated total comprehensive income for 

the year - - 1,620 48,483 - 50,103 10,341 60,444 

Transactions with owners, recorded 

directly in equity: 

Dividends paid to: 

 Owners of the parent - - - (11,866) - (11,866) - (11,866)

     Non-controlling interests - - - - - - (3,815) (3,815)

Supplementary dividends - - - (256) - (256) - (256) 

Foreign investment tax credits - - - 256 - 256 - 256

Movement in non-controlling interests 

without a change in control - - - (50) - (50) 1,330 1,280 

Restated bRestated bRestated bRestated balance at alance at alance at alance at 31 December 202031 December 202031 December 202031 December 2020    383,266383,266383,266383,266    ---- (1,699)(1,699)(1,699)(1,699) 99993333,,,,129129129129    (26)(26)(26)(26) 474474474474,,,,670670670670 99995555,,,,312312312312    569569569569,,,,982982982982    

The accompanying notes form part of, and should be read in conjunction with, these financial statements



FIN 4 

Millennium & CopthorneMillennium & CopthorneMillennium & CopthorneMillennium & Copthorne    Hotels New Zealand Limited Hotels New Zealand Limited Hotels New Zealand Limited Hotels New Zealand Limited 

Consolidated Statement of Financial Position 

As at 31 December As at 31 December As at 31 December As at 31 December 2022022022021111    
GroupGroupGroupGroup GroupGroupGroupGroup GroupGroupGroupGroup

DOLLARS IN THOUSANDSDOLLARS IN THOUSANDSDOLLARS IN THOUSANDSDOLLARS IN THOUSANDS    NoteNoteNoteNote    2021202120212021    
31 December 31 December 31 December 31 December 

2020202020 20 20 20 ((((RestatedRestatedRestatedRestated))))    ȃȃȃȃ    
1 January 1 January 1 January 1 January 2020202020 20 20 20 
((((RestatedRestatedRestatedRestated))))    ȃȃȃȃ    

SHAREHOLDERS’ EQUITYSHAREHOLDERS’ EQUITYSHAREHOLDERS’ EQUITYSHAREHOLDERS’ EQUITY 
Issued capital 7 383,266 383,266 383,266 
Reserves 130,949 91,430 53,243 
Treasury stock 7 (26) (26) (26) 
Equity attributable to owners of the Equity attributable to owners of the Equity attributable to owners of the Equity attributable to owners of the 
parentparentparentparent    

514514514514,,,,189189189189    474474474474,,,,670670670670    434343436666,,,,483483483483    

Non-controlling interests 103,610 95,312 87,456 
Total equity Total equity Total equity Total equity     617617617617,,,,799799799799    569569569569,,,,982982982982    525252523333,,,,939939939939    

Represented by:Represented by:Represented by:Represented by:    
NON CURRENT ASSETSNON CURRENT ASSETSNON CURRENT ASSETSNON CURRENT ASSETS    
Property, plant and equipment 9 245,782 247,908 253,239 
Development properties 10 188,508 156,880 176,579 
Investment properties 11 23,332 3,325 - 
Investment in associates 2 2 2 
Total nonTotal nonTotal nonTotal non----current assetscurrent assetscurrent assetscurrent assets 454545457777,,,,624624624624    408408408408,,,,115115115115    444429292929,,,,820820820820    

CURRENT ASSETSCURRENT ASSETSCURRENT ASSETSCURRENT ASSETS    
Cash and cash equivalents 12 58,143 20,766 43,182 
Short term bank deposits 121,496 177,274 122,049 
Trade and other receivables 13 15,434 12,170 21,138 
Inventories 1,272 1,352 1,615 
Assets classified as held for sale 24 - 2,130 - 
Development properties  10 26,827 42,342 51,887 
Total current assetsTotal current assetsTotal current assetsTotal current assets    222222223333,,,,172172172172    222256565656,,,,034034034034    222239393939,,,,871871871871    

Total assetsTotal assetsTotal assetsTotal assets    686868680000,,,,777796969696    664664664664,,,,149149149149    666669696969,,,,691691691691    

NON CURRENT LIABILITIESNON CURRENT LIABILITIESNON CURRENT LIABILITIESNON CURRENT LIABILITIES    
Interest-bearing loans and borrowings 14 - 38,000 67,000 
Lease liability 22 15,858 14,005 14,370 
Deferred tax 15 9,298 9,334 31,495 
Total nonTotal nonTotal nonTotal non----current liabilcurrent liabilcurrent liabilcurrent liabilitiesitiesitiesities 25252525,,,,156156156156    61616161,,,,339339339339    111111112222,,,,865865865865    

CURRENT LIABILITIESCURRENT LIABILITIESCURRENT LIABILITIESCURRENT LIABILITIES 
Interest-bearing loans and borrowings 14 1,000 - - 
Trade and other payables 16 30,001 24,068 24,562 
Trade payables due to related parties 20 3,977 4,490 4,054 
Lease liability 22 457 478 429 
Income tax payable 2,406 3,792 3,842 
Total current liabilitiesTotal current liabilitiesTotal current liabilitiesTotal current liabilities    37373737,,,,841841841841    32323232,,,,828828828828    33332222,,,,887887887887    

Total liabilitiesTotal liabilitiesTotal liabilitiesTotal liabilities    66662222,,,,997997997997    94949494,,,,167167167167    141414145555,,,,752752752752    

NET ASSETSNET ASSETSNET ASSETSNET ASSETS    617617617617,,,,799799799799    569,982569,982569,982569,982    525252523333,,,,939939939939    

ȃȃȃȃ The comparative information is restated due to change iThe comparative information is restated due to change iThe comparative information is restated due to change iThe comparative information is restated due to change in accounting policy. See note n accounting policy. See note n accounting policy. See note n accounting policy. See note 22225555....

For and on behalf of the boardFor and on behalf of the boardFor and on behalf of the boardFor and on behalf of the board    

GGGG    MMMMCKENZIECKENZIECKENZIECKENZIE, , , , DIRECTORDIRECTORDIRECTORDIRECTOR, , , , 11118888    February February February February 2022022022022222    BK CHIU, MANAGING DIRECTORBK CHIU, MANAGING DIRECTORBK CHIU, MANAGING DIRECTORBK CHIU, MANAGING DIRECTOR, , , , 11118888    February February February February 2022022022022222    

The accompanying notes form part of, and should be read in conjunction with, these financial statements 



FIN 5 

Millennium & CopthorneMillennium & CopthorneMillennium & CopthorneMillennium & Copthorne    Hotels New Zealand Limited Hotels New Zealand Limited Hotels New Zealand Limited Hotels New Zealand Limited 

Consolidated Statement of Cash Flows 

For the year ended 31 December For the year ended 31 December For the year ended 31 December For the year ended 31 December 2021202120212021    

GroupGroupGroupGroup    GroupGroupGroupGroup    

DOLLARS IN THOUSANDSDOLLARS IN THOUSANDSDOLLARS IN THOUSANDSDOLLARS IN THOUSANDS    NoteNoteNoteNote    2022022022021111    2020202020202020    

CASH FLOWS FROM OPERATING ACTIVITIES 
Cash was provided from:Cash was provided from:Cash was provided from:Cash was provided from:    
Receipts from customers 161,320 180,659 
Interest received 1,751 3,604 
Dividends received 4 2 1 

Cash was applied to:Cash was applied to:Cash was applied to:Cash was applied to: 
Payments to suppliers and employees (62,099)  (77,908) 
Purchases of development land 1 (56,528)  (1,260) 
Interest paid (139) (1,173)
Income tax paid (15,288) (17,826)

Net cash inflow from operating activitiesNet cash inflow from operating activitiesNet cash inflow from operating activitiesNet cash inflow from operating activities    22229999,,,,010101019999    86868686,,,,097097097097    

CASH FLOWS FROM INVESTING ACTIVITIES 
Cash was (applied to)/provided from:Cash was (applied to)/provided from:Cash was (applied to)/provided from:Cash was (applied to)/provided from:    
Proceeds from the sale of property, plant and equipment 10 108 
Proceeds from the sale of asset held for sale 18,000 - 
Purchases of property, plant and equipment 9 (3,981) (5,956) 
Purchases of investment property (20,077) (3,325) 
Investments in short term bank deposits  55,778  (55,225) 

Net cash Net cash Net cash Net cash inflow/(oinflow/(oinflow/(oinflow/(outflowutflowutflowutflow))))    from investing activitiesfrom investing activitiesfrom investing activitiesfrom investing activities 49494949,,,,730730730730    ((((64,39864,39864,39864,398))))    

CASH FLOWS FROM FINANCING ACTIVITIES 
Cash was (applied to)/provided from:Cash was (applied to)/provided from:Cash was (applied to)/provided from:Cash was (applied to)/provided from:    
Repayment of borrowings 14 (37,000) (29,000) 
Principal repayment of lease liability 22(c) (1,577) (1,430) 
Dividends paid to shareholders of Millennium & Copthorne 
Hotels New Zealand Ltd 7 - (11,866)
Dividends paid to non-controlling shareholders (3,914) (3,815)

Net cash Net cash Net cash Net cash outflowoutflowoutflowoutflow    from financing activitiesfrom financing activitiesfrom financing activitiesfrom financing activities    (42,491)(42,491)(42,491)(42,491)    (46,111)(46,111)(46,111)(46,111)    

Net increase/(decrease)Net increase/(decrease)Net increase/(decrease)Net increase/(decrease)    in cash and cash equivalentsin cash and cash equivalentsin cash and cash equivalentsin cash and cash equivalents    36363636,,,,252525258888    (24(24(24(24,,,,412)412)412)412)    
Add opening cash and cash equivalents 20,766 43,182 
Exchange rate adjustment 1,119 1,996 

Closing cash and cash equivalents Closing cash and cash equivalents Closing cash and cash equivalents Closing cash and cash equivalents 12    58,14358,14358,14358,143    20,76620,76620,76620,766    

The accompanying notes form part of, and should be read in conjunction with, these financial statements 



FIN 6 

Millennium & CopthorneMillennium & CopthorneMillennium & CopthorneMillennium & Copthorne    Hotels New Zealand Limited Hotels New Zealand Limited Hotels New Zealand Limited Hotels New Zealand Limited 

Consolidated Statement of Cash Flows – continued

For the year ended 31 December For the year ended 31 December For the year ended 31 December For the year ended 31 December 2022022022021111    

GroupGroupGroupGroup    GroupGroupGroupGroup    
DOLLARS IN THOUSANDSDOLLARS IN THOUSANDSDOLLARS IN THOUSANDSDOLLARS IN THOUSANDS    NoteNoteNoteNote    2022022022021111    2020202020202020    

RECONCILIATION OF NET PROFIT FOR THE YEAR TO CASH FLOWS 
FROM OPERATING ACTIVITIES 

Profit for the yearProfit for the yearProfit for the yearProfit for the year    50,722 58,824 

Adjusted for nonAdjusted for nonAdjusted for nonAdjusted for non----cash items:cash items:cash items:cash items:    
Gain on sale of property, plant and equipment 2 (5) (19)
Gain on sale of asset held for sale (15,870) -
Depreciation of property, plant and equipment and investment property 9, 11 7,417 7,801
Depreciation of Right-Of-Use assets 9 961 1,333
Unrealised foreign exchange losses/(gain)  115 (74) 
Income tax expense/(credit) 5 13,871 (4,406) ȃȃȃȃ 

57575757,,,,212121211111    63636363,,,,459459459459    

Adjustments for movements in working capital:Adjustments for movements in working capital:Adjustments for movements in working capital:Adjustments for movements in working capital:    

(Increase)/Decrease in trade & other receivables (3,264) 8,970 
Decrease in inventories 80 263 
(Increase)/Decrease in development properties (16,272) 30,299 
Increase in trade & other payables 7,204 1,669 
Increase/(Decrease) in related parties (513) 436

Cash generated from operationsCash generated from operationsCash generated from operationsCash generated from operations    44444444,,,,444444446666    105105105105,,,,096096096096    

Interest paid (139) (1,173)
Income tax paid (15,288) (17,826)

Cash inflows from operating activities Cash inflows from operating activities Cash inflows from operating activities Cash inflows from operating activities 22229999,,,,010101019999    86868686,,,,097097097097    

Reconciliation of movement of liabilities to cash flows arising from financing Reconciliation of movement of liabilities to cash flows arising from financing Reconciliation of movement of liabilities to cash flows arising from financing Reconciliation of movement of liabilities to cash flows arising from financing 
activitiesactivitiesactivitiesactivities    
As at 01 January 38,000 67,000 

Proceeds from borrowings - - 
Repayment of term loans (37,000) (29,000) 
Financing cash flowsFinancing cash flowsFinancing cash flowsFinancing cash flows    ((((37373737,000),000),000),000)    (29,000)(29,000)(29,000)(29,000)    

As at 31 December 1111,000,000,000,000    38383838,000,000,000,000    

ȃȃȃȃ The comparative information is restated due to change iThe comparative information is restated due to change iThe comparative information is restated due to change iThe comparative information is restated due to change in accounting policy. See note 25.n accounting policy. See note 25.n accounting policy. See note 25.n accounting policy. See note 25.

The accompanying notes form part of, and should be read in conjunction with, these financial statements 



FIN 7 

Millennium & Copthorne Hotels New Zealand Limited Millennium & Copthorne Hotels New Zealand Limited Millennium & Copthorne Hotels New Zealand Limited Millennium & Copthorne Hotels New Zealand Limited 
Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements for the year ended 31 December 2021 

Significant accounting policiesSignificant accounting policiesSignificant accounting policiesSignificant accounting policies    

Millennium & Copthorne Hotels New Zealand Limited is a company domiciled in New Zealand registered under the Companies Act 
1993 and listed on the New Zealand Stock Exchange. Millennium & Copthorne Hotels New Zealand Limited (the “Company”) is a 
Financial Markets Conduct Reporting Entity in terms of the Financial Markets Conduct Act 2013 and the Financial Reporting Act 2013. 
The financial statements of the Company for the year ended 31 December 2021 comprise the Company and its subsidiaries (together 
referred to as the “Group”). The registered office is located at Level 13, 280 Centre, 280 Queen Street, Auckland, New Zealand. 

The principal activities of the Group are ownership and operation of hotels in New Zealand; development and sale of residential land 
in New Zealand; and development and sale of residential units in Australia. 

(a) Statement of compliance(a) Statement of compliance(a) Statement of compliance(a) Statement of compliance    

The financial statements have been prepared in accordance with New Zealand Generally Accepted Accounting Practice 
(NZ GAAP). They comply with New Zealand equivalents to International Financial Reporting Standards (NZ IFRSs) as 
appropriate for Tier 1 profit-oriented entities.  The financial statements also comply with International Financial Reporting 
Standards (IFRSs). 

The financial statements were authorised for issuance on 18 February 2022. 

(b) Basis of preparation(b) Basis of preparation(b) Basis of preparation(b) Basis of preparation  

The financial statements are presented in New Zealand Dollars, rounded to the nearest thousand. They are prepared on 
the historical cost basis. 

The preparation of financial statements in conformity with NZ IFRSs requires management to make judgments, estimates 
and assumptions that affect the application of the Group’s policies and reported amounts of assets and liabilities, income 
and expenses. Estimates and underlying assumptions are reviewed on an ongoing basis. Revisions to accounting 
estimates are recognised in the period in which the estimate is revised and in any future period affected. 

In particular, information about significant areas of estimation uncertainty and critical judgements in applying accounting 
policies that have the most significant effect on the amount recognised in the financial statements are described in Note 21 
– Accounting Estimates and Judgements.

(c)(c) (c)(c) Change in accounting policiesChange in accounting policiesChange in accounting policiesChange in accounting policies    and new standards adopted in the yearand new standards adopted in the yearand new standards adopted in the yearand new standards adopted in the year  

The accounting policies have been applied consistently to all periods presented in these consolidation financial statements, 
except as mentioned below: 

The Group has changed its accounting policy in respect of the measurement of land and buildings. The restatement to 
cost for land and building took effect from 1 January 2005 and the comparatives are restated to reflect the changes. See 
note 25 for further details. 

The accounting policies are now included within the relevant notes to the consolidated financial statements. 

((((dddd) Foreign currency) Foreign currency) Foreign currency) Foreign currency 

Foreign currency transactionsForeign currency transactionsForeign currency transactionsForeign currency transactions    
Transactions in foreign currencies are translated at the foreign exchange rate ruling at the date of the transaction. Monetary 
assets and liabilities denominated in foreign currencies at the balance date are translated to New Zealand dollars at the 
foreign exchange rate ruling at that date. Foreign exchange differences arising on translation are recognised in the income 
statement. Non-monetary assets and liabilities that are measured in terms of historical cost in a foreign currency are 
translated using the exchange rate at the date of the transaction. Non-monetary assets and liabilities denominated in foreign 
currencies that are stated at fair value are translated to New Zealand dollars at foreign exchange rates ruling at the dates 
the fair value was determined. 

((((eeee)) )) Insurance proceedsInsurance proceedsInsurance proceedsInsurance proceeds  

Compensation from third parties for items of property, plant and equipment that were damaged, impaired, lost or given up 
is included in the profit or loss when the compensation becomes virtually certain. Any subsequent purchase or construction 
of replacement assets are separate economic events and are accounted for separately.  

((((ffff) Revenue) Revenue) Revenue) Revenue  

Revenue from sale of goods and services in the ordinary course of business is recognised when the Group satisfies a 
performance obligation by transferring control of a promised good or service to the customer. The amount of revenue 
recognised is the amount of the transaction price allocated to the satisfied performance obligation.  

Revenue represents amounts derived from: 
• The ownership, management and operation of hotels: recognised on an accruals basis to match the provision

of the related goods and services.
• Income from property rental: recognised on an accruals basis, straight line over the lease period. Lease

incentives granted are recognised as an integral part of the total rental income.
• Income from development property sales: recognised when the customer obtains control of the property and is

able to direct and obtain the benefits from the property.



FIN 8 

MMMMiiiillennium & Copthornellennium & Copthornellennium & Copthornellennium & Copthorne    Hotels New Zealand Limited Hotels New Zealand Limited Hotels New Zealand Limited Hotels New Zealand Limited 
Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements for the year ended 31 December 2021 

Index 

1. Segment reporting

2. Administration and other operating expenses

3. Personnel expenses

4. Net finance income

5. Income tax expense

6. Imputation credits

7. Capital and reserves

8. Earnings per share

9. Property, plant and equipment

10. Development properties

11. Investment properties

12. Cash and cash equivalents

13. Trade and other receivables

14. Interest-bearing loans and borrowings

15. Deferred tax assets and liabilities

16. Trade and other payables

17. Financial instruments

18. Capital and land development commitments

19. Related parties

20. Group entities

21. Accounting estimates and judgements

22. Lease

23. New standard and interpretations issued but not yet adopted

24. Assets classified as held for sale

25. Change in accounting policy

26. Contingent liabilities
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Millennium & CopthorneMillennium & CopthorneMillennium & CopthorneMillennium & Copthorne    Hotels New Zealand Limited Hotels New Zealand Limited Hotels New Zealand Limited Hotels New Zealand Limited 
Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements for the year ended 31 December 2021

1.1.1.1. Segment reportingSegment reportingSegment reportingSegment reporting  

OperatingOperatingOperatingOperating    segmentssegmentssegmentssegments  
The Group consisted of the following main operating segments:

• Hotel operations, comprising income from the ownership and management of hotels.
• Residential land development, comprising the development and sale of residential land sections.
• Residential and commercial property development, comprising the development and sale of residential

apartments.
• Investment property, comprising rental income from the ownership and leasing of retail shops and industrial

warehouses.

The Group has no major customer representing greater than 10% of the Group’s total revenue. 

(a) Operating Segments

Hotel OperationsHotel OperationsHotel OperationsHotel Operations    

Residential Land Residential Land Residential Land Residential Land 

DevelopmentDevelopmentDevelopmentDevelopment    

Investment Investment Investment Investment 

PropertyPropertyPropertyProperty    

Residential Property Residential Property Residential Property Residential Property 

DevelopmentDevelopmentDevelopmentDevelopment    GroupGroupGroupGroup    

Dollars in thousands 2022022022021111    

2020202020202020    

(Restated)(Restated)(Restated)(Restated)    2022022022021111    2020202020202020    2022022022021111    2020202020202020    2022022022021111    2020202020202020    2022022022021111    

2020202020202020    

(Restated)(Restated)(Restated)(Restated)    

External revenue 55,247 64,067 92,088 88,779 48 - 17,389 19,136 164,772 171,982 

Other Income – Note 1(c) 15,870 - - - - - - - 15,870 - 

Earnings before interest, 
depreciation  
& amortisation 22,876 14,583 42,863 40,790 34 - 7,011 6,807 72,784 62,180 

Finance income 585 1,995 616 1,038 - - 364 368 1,565 3,401 

Finance expense (1,374) (2,025) (4) (2) - - - (2) (1,378) (2,029) 

Depreciation and amortisation (7,337) (7,791) (2) (1) (70) - (8) (9) (7,417) (7,801) 
Depreciation of Right-of-use 
assets (940) (1,310) (13) (14) - - (8) (9) (961) (1,333)

Profit before income tax 13,810 5,452 43,460 41,811 (36) - 7,359 7,155 64,593 54,418 

Income tax expense 495 (1,794) (12,169) (11,712) 10 - (2,207) (2,146) (13,871) (15,652) 
Income tax credit arising from 
change in building 
depreciation - 20,058 - - - - - - - 20,058

Profit after income tax 14,305 23,716 31,291 30,099 (26) - 5,152 5,009 50,722 58,824 

Cash & cash equivalents and 
short term bank deposits 50,264 70,195 83,025 96,731 - - 46,350 31,114 179,639 198,040 

Other segment assets 254,020 256,171 191,263 163,349 23,332 3,325 32,540 43,262 501,155 466,107 

Investment in associates - - 2 2 - - - - 2 2 

Total assets 304,284 326,366 274,290 260,082 23,332 3,325 78,890 74,376 680,796 664,149 

Segment liabilities (42,048) (76,766) (7,397) (2,397) - - (1,849) (1,878) (51,294) (81,041) 

Tax liabilities (7,710) (8,704) (3,845) (3,880) - - (148) (542) (11,703) (13,126) 

Total liabilities (49,758) (85,470) (11,242) (6,277) - - (1,997) (2,420) (62,997) (94,167) 

Property, plant and equipment 
expenditure 6,218 5,922 35 6 - - 5 28 6,258 5,956 

Investment property 
expenditure - - - - 15,593 3,325 - - 15,593 3,325 

Residential land development 
expenditure - - 12,948 20,788 - - - - 12,948 20,788 

Purchase of land for 
residential land development - - 56,258 1,260 - - - - 56,258 1,260 
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1.1.1.1.  Segment rSegment rSegment rSegment reporting eporting eporting eporting ----    continued

(b)(b) (b)(b) Geographical Geographical Geographical Geographical areasareasareasareas  

The Group operates in the following main geographical areas: 
• New Zealand.
• Australia.

Segment revenue is based on the geographical location of the asset. 

New ZealandNew ZealandNew ZealandNew Zealand    AustraliaAustraliaAustraliaAustralia    GroupGroupGroupGroup    

Dollars In Thousands 
2022022022021111    

2020202020202020    

(Restated)(Restated)(Restated)(Restated)    2022022022021111    2020202020202020    2022022022021111    

2020202020202020    

(Restated)(Restated)(Restated)(Restated)    

External revenue 147,383 152,846 17,389 19,136 164,772 171,982 

Other Income – Note 1(c) 15,870 - - - 15,870 - 

Earnings before interest, depreciation & 

amortisation 65,792 55,398 6,992 6,782 72,784 62,180 

Finance income 1,201 3,033 364 368 1,565 3,401 

Finance expense (1,378) (2,027) - (2) (1,378) (2,029) 

Depreciation and amortisation (7,409) (7,792) (8) (9) (7,417) (7,801) 

Depreciation of Right-Of-Use Assets (953) (1,324) (8) (9) (961) (1,333)

Profit before income tax 57,253 47,288 7,340 7,130 64,593 54,418 

Income tax (expense)/credit (11,669) (13,513) (2,202) (2,139) (13,871) (15,652) 

Income tax credit arising from change in 

building depreciation - 20,058 - - - 20,058

Profit after income tax 45,584 53,833 5,138 4,991 50,722 58,824 

Cash & cash equivalents and short term 

bank deposits 133,289 162,926 46,350 35,114 179,639 198,040 

Segment assets 445,283 423,987 32,540 38,795 477,823 462,782 

Investment properties 23,332 3,325 - - 23,332 3,325 

Investment in associates 2 2 - - 2 2 

Total assets 601,906 590,240 78,890 73,909 680,796 664,149 

Segment liabilities (49,445) (79,205) (1,849) (1,836) (51,294) (81,041) 

Tax liabilities (11,555) (12,586) (148) (540) (11,703) (13,126) 

Total liabilities (61,000) (91,791) (1,997) (2,376) (62,997) (94,167) 

Material additions to segment assets: 

Property, plant and equipment expenditure 6,253 5,928 5 28 6,258 5,956 

Investment property expenditure 15,593 3,325 - - 15,593 3,325 

Residential land development expenditure 12,948 20,788 - - 12,948 20,788 

Purchase of land for residential land 

development 
56,258 1,260 - - 56,258 1,260 

An operating segment is a distinguishable component of the Group: 
• that is engaged in business activities from which it earns revenues and incurs expenses;
• whose operating results are regularly reviewed by the Group’s chief operating decision maker to make decisions on

resource allocation to the segment and assess its performance; and
• for which discrete financial information is available.

Segment information is presented in respect of the Group’s reporting segments. Operating segments are the primary basis of 
segment reporting. The Group has determined that its chief operating decision maker is the Board of Directors on the basis that it 
is this group which determines the allocation of resources to segments and assesses their performance. 

Inter-segment pricing is determined on an arm’s length basis. Segment results include items directly attributable to a segment as 
well as those that can be allocated on a reasonable basis. 

Segment capital expenditure is the total cost incurred during the period to acquire segment assets that are expected to be used for 
more than one period. 

(c) Other income(c) Other income(c) Other income(c) Other income  

Other income comprised the gain on sale of assets classified as held for sale. See note 24 for details of the asset sold. 
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2222....  AdministAdministAdministAdministration and other operating expensesration and other operating expensesration and other operating expensesration and other operating expenses  

GroupGroupGroupGroup    

Dollars In Thousands NoteNoteNoteNote 2022022022021111    2020202020202020    

Depreciation (restated) 9, 11 8,378 9,134 

Auditors remuneration 

 Audit fees 367 319 

   Tax compliance and tax advisory fees 34 34 

Directors fees 19 345 296 

Rental expenses 300 163 

Provision for bad debts 

Debts written off 18 81 

Movement in doubtful debt provision (49) (27) 

Net loss on disposal of property, plant and equipment 5 19 

Resurgence Support Payments (187) - 

During the Alert Level 3 and 4 lockdowns in the latter part of 2021, the Group applied for government assistance in the form of 

Resurgence Support Payments. A total of $187,478  was received and applied as credits to the local council rates which are classified 

under operating expenses in the income statement. 

3333....  Personnel expensesPersonnel expensesPersonnel expensesPersonnel expenses  

GroupGroupGroupGroup    

Dollars In Thousands 2022022022021111    2020202020202020    

Wages and salaries 27,734 32,451 

Wage subsidies (3,990) (7,377) 

Employee related expenses and benefits 962 1,005 

Contributions to defined contribution plans 362 587 

Increase/(decrease) in liability for long-service leave 19 (89) 

22225555,,,,087087087087    26,57726,57726,57726,577    

Wage subsidy schemeWage subsidy schemeWage subsidy schemeWage subsidy scheme    
The Group applied for government support arising from the August 2021 Alert Levels 3 and 4 lockdowns. The Group received a total 
of $4.16 million under the COVID-19 Wage Subsidy August 2021 Scheme. Other assistance applied for and received were $13,200 
under the COVID-19 Leave Support Scheme and $1,400 for COVID-19 Short-term Absence Payment.   

The wage subsidies including Leave Support Scheme and Short-term Absence Payment were recorded as a deduction against payroll 
costs in personnel expenses. The personnel expenses are included in cost of sales, administration expenses and other expenses in 
the income statement.  

Employee longEmployee longEmployee longEmployee long----term servterm servterm servterm service benefitsice benefitsice benefitsice benefits    
The Group’s net obligation in respect of long-term service benefits, is the amount of future benefit that employees have earned in 
return for their service in the current and prior periods. The obligation is calculated using their expected remuneration and an 
assessment of the likelihood that the liability will arise. 

4444....  Net finance incomeNet finance incomeNet finance incomeNet finance income  

Recognised in the income statementRecognised in the income statementRecognised in the income statementRecognised in the income statement 

GroupGroupGroupGroup    

Dollars In Thousands 2022022022021111    2020202020202020    

Interest income 1,563 3,311 

Dividend income 2 1 

Foreign exchange gain - 89 

Finance income 1,565 3,401 

Interest expense (1,263) (2,014) 

Foreign exchange loss (115) (15)

Finance costs (1,378) (2,029) 

Net finance income recognised in the income statementNet finance income recognised in the income statementNet finance income recognised in the income statementNet finance income recognised in the income statement    111187878787    1,3721,3721,3721,372    
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4444....  Net finance incomeNet finance incomeNet finance incomeNet finance income    - continued

Finance income and expensesFinance income and expensesFinance income and expensesFinance income and expenses    
Finance income comprises interest income on funds invested, dividend income and foreign currency gains that are recognised in 
profit or loss. Interest income is recognised as it accrues, using the effective interest method. Dividend income is recognised in the 
income statement on the date the entity’s right to receive payments is established which in the case of quoted securities is the ex-
dividend date.  

Finance expenses comprise interest payable on borrowings calculated using the effective interest rate method, interest costs on lease 
liability and foreign exchange losses that are recognised in the income statement. 

ReReReRecognised in other comprehensive incomecognised in other comprehensive incomecognised in other comprehensive incomecognised in other comprehensive income 

GroupGroupGroupGroup    

Dollars In Thousands 2022022022021111    2020202020202020    

Foreign exchange translation movements (326) 1,620

Net finance income recognised in other comprehensive incomeNet finance income recognised in other comprehensive incomeNet finance income recognised in other comprehensive incomeNet finance income recognised in other comprehensive income    (326)(326)(326)(326)  1,6201,6201,6201,620  

Exchange translation of fExchange translation of fExchange translation of fExchange translation of financial statements of forinancial statements of forinancial statements of forinancial statements of foreign operationseign operationseign operationseign operations    
The assets and liabilities of foreign operations are translated to New Zealand dollars at foreign exchange rates ruling at the balance 
date. The revenues and expenses of foreign operations are translated to New Zealand dollars at rates approximating the foreign 
exchange rates ruling at the dates of the transactions. Foreign exchange differences arising on re-translation are recognised directly 
as a separate component of equity. When a foreign operation is disposed of, in part or in full, the relevant amount in the exchange 
reserve is released into the income statement.    

5555....  Income tax expenseIncome tax expenseIncome tax expenseIncome tax expense  

Recognised in the income statementRecognised in the income statementRecognised in the income statementRecognised in the income statement    

GroupGroupGroupGroup    

Dollars In Thousands    2022022022021111    2020202020202020    

Current tax expenseCurrent tax expenseCurrent tax expenseCurrent tax expense 

Current year 13,803 17,461 

Adjustments for prior years 104 294 

13,907 17,755 

Deferred tax expenseDeferred tax expenseDeferred tax expenseDeferred tax expense    

Origination and reversal of temporary difference (36) (2,104)

Changes in treatment of building depreciation - (20,058)

Adjustments for prior years - 1

(36) (22,161)

Total income tax exTotal income tax exTotal income tax exTotal income tax expense in the income statementpense in the income statementpense in the income statementpense in the income statement    13131313,,,,871871871871    ((((4444,,,,406406406406))))    

Reconciliation of tax Reconciliation of tax Reconciliation of tax Reconciliation of tax expenseexpenseexpenseexpense    

GroupGroupGroupGroup    

Dollars In Thousands 2022022022021111    2020202020202020    

Profit before income tax 64,593 54,418 

Income tax at the company tax rate of 28% (2020: 28%) 18,086 15,237 

Adjusted for: 

Non-deductible expenses - - 

Tax rate difference (if different from 28% above) 147 143 

Tax exempt income (4,466) (23) 

Changes in treatment of building depreciation - (20,058)

Under/(Over) - provided in prior years 104 295 

Total income tax expenseTotal income tax expenseTotal income tax expenseTotal income tax expense    13131313,,,,871871871871    ((((4444,,,,406406406406))))    

Effective tax rate  21% (8)% 
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5555....  Income tax expense Income tax expense Income tax expense Income tax expense - continued

Income tax on the profit or loss for the year comprises current and deferred tax. Income tax is recognised in the income statement 
except to the extent that it relates to items recognised directly in other comprehensive income or equity, in which case it is recognised 
in other comprehensive income or equity. 

Included in the Government’s Business Continuity Package (COVID-19 Response (Taxation and Social Assistance Urgent 
Measure) Act 2020) was the reintroduction of tax depreciation on commercial and industrial buildings. With effect from 1 January 
2020, the Group is now able to depreciate, at 2.0% diminishing value method, the core components of the hotel buildings 
previously depreciated at 0.0% for tax purposes. As a result, in 2020 the deferred tax liability was reduced by $20.06 million with a 
deferred tax credit of the same amount booked into the profit and loss.  

Current tax is the expected tax payable on the taxable income for the year, using tax rates enacted or substantively enacted at the 
balance date, and any adjustment to tax payable in respect of previous years. 

Deferred tax is recognised in respect of the temporary differences between the carrying amounts of assets and liabilities for financial 
reporting purposes and the amounts used for taxation purposes. The following temporary differences are not provided for: goodwill 
not deductible for tax purposes; the initial recognition of assets or liabilities that neither affect accounting nor taxable profit; and 
differences relating to investments in subsidiaries to the extent that they will probably not reverse in the foreseeable future. The 
amount of deferred tax provided is based on the expected manner of realisation or settlement of the carrying amount of assets and 
liabilities, using tax rates enacted or substantively enacted at the balance date. 

A deferred tax asset is recognised only to the extent that it is probable that future taxable profits will be available against which the 
asset can be utilised. Deferred tax assets are reduced to the extent that it is no longer probable that the related tax benefit will be 
realised. 

Deferred tax assets and deferred tax liabilities are offset only if the Group has a legally enforceable right to set off current tax assets 
against current tax liabilities; the Group intends to settle net; and the deferred tax assets and the deferred tax liabilities relate to 
income taxes levied by the same taxation authority.  

6666....  Imputation creditsImputation creditsImputation creditsImputation credits  

The KIN Holdings Group has A$10.66 million (2020: A$8.22 million) franking credits available as at 31 December 2021. 

7777....  Capital and reservesCapital and reserves Capital and reservesCapital and reserves 

Share capital Share capital Share capital Share capital     

GroupGroupGroupGroup    GroupGroupGroupGroup    

2022022022021111    2022022022021111    2020202020202020    2020202020202020    

SharesSharesSharesShares    $000’s$000’s$000’s$000’s    SharesSharesSharesShares    $000’s$000’s$000’s$000’s    

Ordinary shares issued 1 January 105,578,290 350,048 105,578,290 350,048 

Ordinary shares issued at 31 December Ordinary shares issued at 31 December Ordinary shares issued at 31 December Ordinary shares issued at 31 December ––––    fully paidfully paidfully paidfully paid    105,578,290105,578,290105,578,290105,578,290    350,048350,048350,048350,048    105,578,290105,578,290105,578,290105,578,290    350,048350,048350,048350,048    

Redeemable preference shares 1 January 52,739,543 33,218 52,739,543 33,218 

Redeemable preference shares issueRedeemable preference shares issueRedeemable preference shares issueRedeemable preference shares issued at 31 December d at 31 December d at 31 December d at 31 December ––––    fully fully fully fully 
paidpaidpaidpaid    

52,739,54352,739,54352,739,54352,739,543    33,21833,21833,21833,218    52,739,54352,739,54352,739,54352,739,543    33,21833,21833,21833,218    

Ordinary shares repurchased and held as treasury stock 1 
January 

(99,547) (26) (99,547) (26) 

Ordinary shares repurchased and held as treasury stock 31 Ordinary shares repurchased and held as treasury stock 31 Ordinary shares repurchased and held as treasury stock 31 Ordinary shares repurchased and held as treasury stock 31 
DecemberDecemberDecemberDecember    

(99,547)(99,547)(99,547)(99,547)    (26(26(26(26))))    (99,547)(99,547)(99,547)(99,547)    (26(26(26(26))))    

Total shares issued and outstandingTotal shares issued and outstandingTotal shares issued and outstandingTotal shares issued and outstanding    158,218,286158,218,286158,218,286158,218,286    383,240383,240383,240383,240    158,218,286158,218,286158,218,286158,218,286    383,240383,240383,240383,240    

At 31 December 2021, the authorised share capital consisted of 105,578,290 ordinary shares (2020: 105,578,290 ordinary shares) 
with no par value and 52,739,543 redeemable preference shares (2020: 52,739,543 redeemable preference shares) with no par 
value. 

GroupGroupGroupGroup    

Dollars In Thousands    2022022022021111    2020202020202020    

Imputation credits available for use in subsequent  reporting periods 110,508 112,639 
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7777....  Capital and reservesCapital and reservesCapital and reservesCapital and reserves    –––– continued

Repurchase of share capitalRepurchase of share capitalRepurchase of share capitalRepurchase of share capital    
When share capital recognised as equity is repurchased, the amount of the consideration paid, including directly attributed costs, 
is recognised as a change in equity. Repurchased shares are classified as treasury stock and presented as a deduction from total 
equity. 

Exchange reserveExchange reserveExchange reserveExchange reserve    
The exchange reserve comprises the foreign exchange differences arising from the translation of the financial statements of foreign 
operations.     

DividendsDividendsDividendsDividends 
The following dividends were declared and paid during the year ended 31 December: 

ParentParentParentParent    
Dollars In Thousands    2022022022021111    2020202020202020    
Ordinary Dividend Ordinary Dividend Ordinary Dividend Ordinary Dividend – Nil cents per qualifying share (2020: 7.5 cents)    - 11,866
Supplementary Dividend Supplementary Dividend Supplementary Dividend Supplementary Dividend – Nil cents per qualifying share (2020: 1.3235 cents) - 256

- 12,122

After 31 December 2021, the following dividends were declared by the directors. The dividends have not been provided for and there 
are no income tax consequences. 

Dollars In Thousands    ParentParentParentParent    

OrdinOrdinOrdinOrdinary Dividendary Dividendary Dividendary Dividend – 3.5 cents per qualifying share (2020: Nil cents)    5,538 
Supplementary DividendSupplementary DividendSupplementary DividendSupplementary Dividend – 0.0062 cents per qualifying share (2020: Nil cents) 159 
TotalTotalTotalTotal    DividendDividendDividendDividendssss    5,697 

DividendsDividendsDividendsDividends    and taxand taxand taxand tax    
Dividends are recognised as a liability in the period in which they are declared. Additional income taxes that arise from the 
distribution of dividends are recognised at the same time as the liability to pay the related dividend. 

8888....  Earnings per shareEarnings per shareEarnings per shareEarnings per share  

Basic earnings per shareBasic earnings per shareBasic earnings per shareBasic earnings per share    
The calculation of basic earnings per share at 31 December 2021 was based on the profit attributable to ordinary and redeemable 
preference shareholders of $40,049,000 (2020 restated: $48,483,000) and weighted average number of shares outstanding during 
the year ended 31 December 2021 of 158,218,286 (2020: 158,218,286), calculated as follows: 

Profit attributable to shareholdersProfit attributable to shareholdersProfit attributable to shareholdersProfit attributable to shareholders    

GroupGroupGroupGroup    
Dollars In Thousands    2022022022021111    2020202020202020    
Profit for the year 50,722 58,824 
Profit attributable to non-controlling interests (10,673) (10,341) 
Profit attributable to shareholders 40,049 48,483 

Weighted average number ofWeighted average number ofWeighted average number ofWeighted average number of    sharessharessharesshares    

Group Group Group Group   
2022022022021111    2020202020202020    

Weighted average number of shares (ordinary and redeemable preference shares) 158,317,833 158,317,833 
Effect of own shares held (ordinary shares) (99,547) (99,547) 
Weighted average number of shares for earnings per share calculation  158,218,286 158,218,286 

Diluted earnings per shareDiluted earnings per shareDiluted earnings per shareDiluted earnings per share    
The calculation of diluted earnings per share is the same as basic earnings per share. 
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9999....  Property, plant and equipmentProperty, plant and equipmentProperty, plant and equipmentProperty, plant and equipment    (Restated)(Restated)(Restated)(Restated)  

GGGGrouprouprouproup    

Initial recordingInitial recordingInitial recordingInitial recording    
Items of property, plant and equipment are initially stated at cost. The cost of purchased property, plant and equipment is the value 
of the consideration given to acquire the assets and the value of other directly attributable costs, which have been incurred in bringing 
the assets to the location and condition necessary for their intended service. Where parts of an item of property, plant and equipment 
have different useful lives, they are accounted for as separate items of property, plant and equipment. 

Capital expenditure on major projects is recorded separately within property, plant and equipment as capital work in progress. Once 
the project is complete the balance is transferred to the appropriate property, plant and equipment categories. Capital work in progress 
is not depreciated. 

Dollars In Thousands    

FreeholdFreeholdFreeholdFreehold    

LandLandLandLand    BuildingsBuildingsBuildingsBuildings    

Plant, Plant, Plant, Plant, 

EquipmentEquipmentEquipmentEquipment

, Fixtures , Fixtures , Fixtures , Fixtures 

&&&&    FittingsFittingsFittingsFittings    

MotorMotorMotorMotor    

VehiclesVehiclesVehiclesVehicles    

WorkWorkWorkWork    

InInInIn    

ProgressProgressProgressProgress    

Right Of Right Of Right Of Right Of 

Use Use Use Use 

AssetAssetAssetAsset    TotalTotalTotalTotal    

CostCostCostCost    

Balance at 1 January 2020 184,997 387,284 103,990 76 2,118 23,192 701,657 

Impact of change in accounting policy (139,176) (177,905) - - - (5,677) (322,758) 

Restated balance 1 January 2020 45,821 209,379 103,990 76 2,118 17,515 378,899 

Acquisitions  - 315 339 - 5,302 130 6,086 

Disposals - (1) (172) - (58) (6) (237) 

Transfers between categories - 3,918 806 - (4,724) - - 

Transfer to assets classified as held 

for sale (2,130) - - - - - (2,130)

Movements in foreign exchange - - 9 - - 1 10

Restated bRestated bRestated bRestated balance at alance at alance at alance at 31 December 31 December 31 December 31 December 

2020202020202020    43434343,,,,691691691691    213213213213,,,,611611611611    104,972104,972104,972104,972    76767676    2,6382,6382,6382,638    17171717,,,,640640640640    383838382222,,,,628628628628    

Balance at 1 January 2021 43,691 213,611 104,972 76 2,638 17,640 382,628 

Acquisitions  - 205 433 - 3,343 2,276 6,257 

Disposals - (39) (31) - (32) (129) (231) 

Transfers between categories - 21 224 - (245) - - 

Movements in foreign exchange - - (2) - - - (2) 

Balance at Balance at Balance at Balance at 31 December 202131 December 202131 December 202131 December 2021    43434343,,,,691691691691    222213131313,,,,798798798798    105,59105,59105,59105,596666    76767676    5,7045,7045,7045,704    19191919,,,,787787787787    388388388388,,,,652652652652    

DepreciatiDepreciatiDepreciatiDepreciation and impairment losseson and impairment losseson and impairment losseson and impairment losses    

Balance at 1 January 2020 - (26,045) (82,496) (67) - (1,300) (109,908) 

Impact of change in accounting policy - (15,752) - - - - (15,752) 

Restated balance 1 January 2020 - (41,797) (82,496) (67) - (1,300) (125,660) 

Depreciation charge for the year - (3,609) (4,190) (2) - (1,333) (9,134) 

Impairment losses for the year - - - - - - - 

Disposals - - 82 - - - 82 

Movements in foreign exchange - - (8) - - - (8) 

Restated bRestated bRestated bRestated balance at alance at alance at alance at 31 December 31 December 31 December 31 December 

2020202020202020    ----  ((((45454545,,,,406406406406))))  (86,612)(86,612)(86,612)(86,612)    (69)(69)(69)(69)  ----  ((((2,2,2,2,633633633633))))    (1(1(1(134343434,,,,720720720720))))    

Balance at 1 January 2021 - (45,406) (86,612) (69) - (2,633) (134,720) 

Depreciation charge for the year - (3,434) (3,911) (2) - (961) (8,308)

Disposals - - 27 - - 129 156 

Movements in foreign exchange - - 2 - - - 2 

Balance at Balance at Balance at Balance at 31 December 202131 December 202131 December 202131 December 2021    ----  (48,8(48,8(48,8(48,840404040))))  (90,49(90,49(90,49(90,494444))))    (71)(71)(71)(71)  ----  (3,(3,(3,(3,464646465555))))    (142,(142,(142,(142,888870707070))))    

Carrying amountsCarrying amountsCarrying amountsCarrying amounts    

At 1 January 2020 44445555,,,,821821821821    111167676767,,,,582582582582    21,21,21,21,494494494494    9999    2,1182,1182,1182,118    16161616,,,,215215215215    252525253333,,,,239239239239    

At At At At 31 December 202031 December 202031 December 202031 December 2020    43434343,,,,691691691691    168168168168,,,,205205205205    18181818,,,,360360360360    7777    2,6382,6382,6382,638    15151515,,,,007007007007    247247247247,,,,908908908908    

At 31 December At 31 December At 31 December At 31 December 2021202120212021    43434343,,,,666691919191    161616164444,,,,958958958958    15151515,,,,101010102222    5555    5,7045,7045,7045,704    16161616,,,,322322322322    222245454545,,,,782782782782    



FIN 16 

Millennium & CopthorneMillennium & CopthorneMillennium & CopthorneMillennium & Copthorne    Hotels New Zealand Limited Hotels New Zealand Limited Hotels New Zealand Limited Hotels New Zealand Limited 
Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements for the year ended 31 December 2021 

9999....  ProProProProperty, plant and equipment perty, plant and equipment perty, plant and equipment perty, plant and equipment ––––    continued

Subsequent measurementSubsequent measurementSubsequent measurementSubsequent measurement    
Property, plant and equipment is subsequently measured at cost less accumulated depreciation and impairment losses. Due to the 
change in accounting policy (Note 26), land and buildings, which were previously re-valued, were restated back to original cost as at 
1 January 2005 and subsequent additions are remeasured at cost less accumulated depreciation and impairment losses. The Group 
recognises the cost of replacing part of such an item of property, plant and equipment when that cost is incurred if it is probable that 
the future economic benefits embodied within the item will flow to the Group and the cost of the item can be measured reliably. All 
other costs are recognised in the income statement as an expense as incurred. 

ImpairmentImpairmentImpairmentImpairment    
The testing for impairment is undertaken with an internal review by management and supplemented by external review on selected 
hotels by an independent registered valuer. The internal review requires management to estimate future cash flows to be generated 
by the cash generating units. The basis of the impairment test is the net present value of the future earnings of the assets. The 
major unobservable inputs that management use that require judgement in estimating future cash flows include expected rate of 
growth in revenue and costs, projected occupancy and average room rates, operational and maintenance expenditure profiles, and 
the appropriate discount rate to apply when discounting future cash flows. Average annual growth rates appropriate to the hotels 
range from 0.26% to 358.78% (2020: 17.15% to 46.75%) over the five years projection. Pre-tax discount rates ranging between 
6.25% and 11.25% (2020: 7.25% and 12.25%) were applied to the future cash flows of the individual hotels based on the specific 
circumstances of the property. 

DepreciationDepreciationDepreciationDepreciation    
Land is not depreciated. Depreciation on other assets is calculated using the straight-line method to allocate their cost to their residual 
values over their estimated useful lives, as follows: 

• Building core 50 years or lease term if shorter 
• Building surfaces and finishes 30 years or lease term if shorter 
• Plant and machinery 15 - 20 years 
• Furniture and equipment 10 years 
• Soft furnishings 5 - 7 years 
• Computer equipment 5 years 
• Motor vehicles 4 years 

No residual values are ascribed to building surfaces and finishes. Residual values ascribed to building core depend on the nature, 
location and tenure of each property. 

Disposal or retirementDisposal or retirementDisposal or retirementDisposal or retirement    
Gains or losses arising from the disposal or retirement of property, plant and equipment are determined as the difference between 
the actual net disposal proceeds and the carrying amount of the asset and are recognised in the income statement on the date of 
retirement or disposal. 

Right of use assetsRight of use assetsRight of use assetsRight of use assets    
The accounting policy for right of use asset is disclosed in Note 23. 

Pledged assetsPledged assetsPledged assetsPledged assets    
A total of ten hotel properties with a total book value of $199.60 million (2020 Restated: $206.11million) are pledged to the bank as 
security against the loan facility.  

11110000....  Development propertDevelopment propertDevelopment propertDevelopment propertiesiesiesies  

GroupGroupGroupGroup    

Dollars In Thousands 2022022022021111    2020202020202020    

Development land 185,741 161,437 

Residential development 29,594 37,785 

215,335 199,222 

Less expected to settle within one year (26,827) (42,342) 

111188888888,,,,508508508508    156,880156,880156,880156,880    

Development land recognised in cost of sales 44,902 43,290 

Residential development recognised in cost of sales 8,329 9,295 

Development land is carried at the lower of cost and net realisable value. Interest of $Nil (2020: $Nil) was capitalised during the year. 
Residential development at balance date consists of the residential development known as Zenith Residences in Sydney, Australia. 

Property held for future development and development property completed and held for sale are stated at the lower of cost and net 
realisable value. Cost includes the cost of acquisition, development, and holding costs. Development properties also include deposits 
paid on unconditional contracts on land purchases. All holding costs incurred after completion of development are expensed as 
incurred. Revenue and profit are not recognised on development properties until the legal title passes to the buyer when the full 
settlement of the purchase consideration of the properties occurs and the development property is derecognised. 
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11.11.11.11.  Investment propertiesInvestment propertiesInvestment propertiesInvestment properties  

GroupGroupGroupGroup    

Investment properties consist of commercial warehousing at Roscommon Road in Auckland and retail shops at Prestons Park in 
Christchurch, of which both are under construction at balance date. The retail shops at Stonebrook in Rolleston are fully operational. 

Investment properties are properties held either to earn rental income or capital appreciation or for both, but not for sale in the 
ordinary course of business, use in the production or supply of goods and services, or for administrative purposes. Investment 
properties are stated at cost less accumulated depreciation and accumulated impairment losses. Cost includes expenditure that is 
directly attributable to the acquisition of the investment properties. Costs of self-constructed investment properties include costs of 
materials and direct labour, any other costs directly attributable to bringing the investment properties to a working condition for their 
intended use and capitalised borrowing costs. Gains and losses on disposal of investment properties (calculated as the difference 
between the net proceeds from disposal and the carrying amounts of the investment properties) are recognised in the profit and 
loss. 

11112222....  Cash and cash equivalentsCash and cash equivalentsCash and cash equivalentsCash and cash equivalents  

GroupGroupGroupGroup    
Dollars In Thousands    2021202120212021    2020202020202020    
Cash 8,142 13,456 
Call deposits 50,001 7,310 

58585858,,,,143143143143    20202020,,,,766766766766    

Cash and cash equivalents comprise cash balances and call deposits with a maturity of three months or less. Bank overdrafts that 
are repayable on demand and form an integral part of the Group’s cash management are included as a component of cash and 
cash equivalents for the purpose of the statement of cash flows. 

11113333....  Trade and other receivablesTrade and other receivablesTrade and other receivablesTrade and other receivables  
GroupGroupGroupGroup    

Dollars In Thousands    2022022022021111    2020202020202020    
Trade receivables  7,253 7,277 
Less provision for doubtful debts (19) (72) 
Other trade receivables and prepayments 8,200 4,965 

11115555,,,,434434434434    12121212,,,,170170170170    

Trade and other receivables are stated at their cost less impairment losses. The carrying amounts of the trade receivables, other 
trade receivables, and prepayments are reviewed at each balance date to determine whether there is any indication of impairment. 
The Group applies the simplified approach to providing for expected credit losses prescribed by NZ IFRS 9, which permits the use of 
the lifetime expected credit loss provision for all trade receivables. The allowance for doubtful debts on trade receivables are either 
individually or collective assessed based on number of days overdue. The Group takes into account the historical loss experience 
and incorporates forward looking information and relevant macroeconomic factors. 

Dollars In Thousands    Freehold Freehold Freehold Freehold LandLandLandLand    BuildingsBuildingsBuildingsBuildings    Work In Work In Work In Work In ProgressProgressProgressProgress    TotalTotalTotalTotal    

CostCostCostCost    

Balance at 1 January 2021 265 2,873 187 3,325 

Transfer from development properties 394 - 4,090 4,484 

Additions - 179 15,414 15,593 

Balance at 31 December 202Balance at 31 December 202Balance at 31 December 202Balance at 31 December 2021111    659659659659    3333,,,,052052052052    11119,6919,6919,6919,691    22223333,,,,402402402402    

Depreciation and impairment lossesDepreciation and impairment lossesDepreciation and impairment lossesDepreciation and impairment losses    

Balance at 1 January 2021 - - - - 

Depreciation charge for the year - 70 - 70

Balance at 31 December 202Balance at 31 December 202Balance at 31 December 202Balance at 31 December 2021111    ----  70707070  ----  70707070  

Carrying amountsCarrying amountsCarrying amountsCarrying amounts    

At  1 January 2021At  1 January 2021At  1 January 2021At  1 January 2021    265265265265    2,8732,8732,8732,873    187187187187    3,3253,3253,3253,325    

At 31 December 2021At 31 December 2021At 31 December 2021At 31 December 2021    659659659659    2,2,2,2,982982982982    19,69119,69119,69119,691    23,33223,33223,33223,332    
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11114444....  InterestInterestInterestInterest----bearing loans and borrowingsbearing loans and borrowingsbearing loans and borrowingsbearing loans and borrowings  

This note provides information about the contractual terms of the Group’s interest-bearing loans and borrowings. For more information 
about the Group’s exposure to interest rate and foreign currency risk, see Note 18. 

GroupGroupGroupGroup    

Dollars in 
Thousands CurrencyCurrencyCurrencyCurrency    

Interest Interest Interest Interest 
RateRateRateRate    

Facility Facility Facility Facility 
TotalTotalTotalTotal    

31 Decembe31 Decembe31 Decembe31 December r r r 2022022022021111    31 December 31 December 31 December 31 December 2020202020202020    

Face ValueFace ValueFace ValueFace Value    
Carrying Carrying Carrying Carrying 
AmountAmountAmountAmount    Face ValueFace ValueFace ValueFace Value    

Carrying Carrying Carrying Carrying 
AmountAmountAmountAmount    

Revolving credit NZD 1.5925% 18181818,000,000,000,000    500 500 19,000 19,000 

Revolving credit NZD 1.5925% 16161616,000,000,000,000    500 500 19,000 19,000 

Overdraft NZD 1.5925% 6,0006,0006,0006,000    - - - - 

TOTALTOTALTOTALTOTAL    40404040,00,00,00,000000    1111,,,,000000000000    1111,,,,000000000000    38383838,,,,000000000000    38383838,,,,000000000000    

Current 1,000 1,000 - - 

Non-current - - 38,000 38,000 

Terms and debt repayment scheduleTerms and debt repayment scheduleTerms and debt repayment scheduleTerms and debt repayment schedule    
The bank facilities are secured over hotel properties with a carrying amount of $199.60 million (2020: $206.11 million) – refer to Note 
9. The Group facilities were renewed on 7 December 2018 with a new maturity of 31 January 2022.

InterestInterestInterestInterest----bearing loans and borrowingsbearing loans and borrowingsbearing loans and borrowingsbearing loans and borrowings    
Interest-bearing loans and borrowings are recognised initially at fair value less attributable transaction costs. Subsequent to initial 
recognition, interest-bearing loans and borrowings are stated at amortised cost with any difference between cost and redemption 
value being recognised in the income statement over the period of the borrowings on an effective interest basis. 

11115555.. .. Deferred tax assets and liabilitiesDeferred tax assets and liabilitiesDeferred tax assets and liabilitiesDeferred tax assets and liabilities  

Recognised deferred tax assets and liabilitiesRecognised deferred tax assets and liabilitiesRecognised deferred tax assets and liabilitiesRecognised deferred tax assets and liabilities    
Deferred tax assets and liabilities are attributable to the following: 

GroupGroupGroupGroup    
AssetsAssetsAssetsAssets    LiabilitiesLiabilitiesLiabilitiesLiabilities    NetNetNetNet    

Dollars In Thousands 2022022022021111    2020202020202020    
(Restated)(Restated)(Restated)(Restated)    

2022022022021111    2020202020202020    
(Restated)(Restated)(Restated)(Restated)    

2022022022021111    2020202020202020    
(Restated)(Restated)(Restated)(Restated)    

Property, plant and equipment - - 16,795 15,978 16,795 15,978 
Development properties (457) (659) - - (457) (659)
Provisions (347) (273) - - (347) (273)
Employee benefits (1,563) (1,448) - - (1,563) (1,448)
Lease liability (5,964) (4,055) - - (4,568) (4,055)
Trade and other payables (1,431) (1,084) - - (1,431) (1,084)
Net investment in foreign operations - - 869 875 869 875 
Net tax (assets) / liabilities ((((9999,,,,762762762762))))    (7,51(7,51(7,51(7,519999))))    11117777,,,,664664664664    16161616,,,,853853853853    9999,,,,298298298298    9999,,,,334334334334    

Movement in Movement in Movement in Movement in ddddeferred tax balanceseferred tax balanceseferred tax balanceseferred tax balances    during the yearduring the yearduring the yearduring the year    
GroupGroupGroupGroup    

Dollars In Thousands 

Balance Balance Balance Balance   
1 Jan 201 Jan 201 Jan 201 Jan 20    

Impact of Impact of Impact of Impact of 
change in change in change in change in 
accounting accounting accounting accounting 

policypolicypolicypolicy    

Restated Restated Restated Restated 
balance 1 balance 1 balance 1 balance 1 
January January January January 
2020202020202020    

RestatedRestatedRestatedRestated    
Recognised in Recognised in Recognised in Recognised in 

IIIIncomencomencomencome      

Recognised Recognised Recognised Recognised 
in equityin equityin equityin equity    

Restated Restated Restated Restated 
bbbbalance alance alance alance   
31 Dec 2031 Dec 2031 Dec 2031 Dec 20    

Property, plant and equipment 91,092 (53,473) 37,619 (21,641) - 15,978
Development properties (660) - (660) 24 (23) (659)
Provisions  (96) - (96) (177) - (273)
Employee benefits (1,326) - (1,326) (122) - (1,448)
Lease liability (4,140) - (4,140) 85 - (4,055)
Trade and other payables (754) - (754) (330) - (1,084)
Net investment in foreign 
operations 852 - 852 - 23 875 

84848484,,,,968968968968    (5(5(5(53333,4,4,4,473737373))))    33331111,,,,495495495495    (2(2(2(22222,1,1,1,161616161))))    ----  9999,,,,334334334334  

Movement in deferred tax balances during the yearMovement in deferred tax balances during the yearMovement in deferred tax balances during the yearMovement in deferred tax balances during the year    
GroupGroupGroupGroup    

Dollars In Thousands 
Balance Balance Balance Balance   
1 Jan 211 Jan 211 Jan 211 Jan 21    

RecRecRecRecognised in ognised in ognised in ognised in 
IIIIncomencomencomencome    

Recognised in Recognised in Recognised in Recognised in 
equityequityequityequity    

Balance Balance Balance Balance   
31 Dec 2131 Dec 2131 Dec 2131 Dec 21    

Property, plant and equipment 15,978 817 - 16,795
Development properties (659) 196 6 (457)
Provisions  (273) (74) - (347)
Employee benefits (1,448) (115) - (1,563) 
Lease liability (4,055) (513) - (4,568) 
Trade and other payables (1,084) (347) - (1,431) 
Net investment in foreign operations 875 - (6) 869 

9999,,,,334334334334    (36)(36)(36)(36)    ----    9999,,,,298298298298    
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11116666....  Trade and other payablesTrade and other payablesTrade and other payablesTrade and other payables  

GroupGroupGroupGroup    
Dollars In Thousands 2020202022221111    2020202020202020    
Trade payables  5,230 1,686 
Employee entitlements 6,311 5,052 
Non-trade payables and accrued expenses 18,460 17,330 

30303030,,,,000001010101    22224444,,,,068068068068    

Trade and other payables are stated at cost. 

11117777....  Financial instrumentsFinancial instrumentsFinancial instrumentsFinancial instruments  

The Group only holds non-derivative financial instruments which comprise cash and cash equivalents, trade and other receivables, 
trade receivables due from related parties, related party advances, secured bank loans, trade and other payables and trade payables 
due to related parties. 

Non-derivative financial instruments are recognised initially at fair value plus, for instruments not at fair value through the income 
statement, any directly attributable transaction costs. Subsequent to initial recognition non-derivative financial instruments are 
measured as described in accounting policies below. 

Financial assets are derecognised if the Group’s contractual rights to the cash flows from the financial assets expire or if the Group 
transfer the financial asset to another party without retaining control or substantially all risks and rewards of the asset.  Financial 
liabilities are derecognised if the Group’s obligations specified in the contract expire or are discharged or cancelled. 

Exposure to credit, liquidity and market risks arises in the normal course of the Group’s business. 

Liquidity riskLiquidity riskLiquidity riskLiquidity risk    
Liquidity risk represents the Group’s ability to meet its contractual obligations.  The Group evaluates its liquidity requirements on an 
ongoing basis.  In general, the Group generates sufficient cash flows from its operating activities to meet its obligations arising from 
its financial liabilities. The Group’s approach to managing liquidity is to ensure, as far as possible, that it will always have sufficient 
liquidity to meet its liabilities when due, under both normal and stressed conditions, without incurring unacceptable losses or risking 
damage to the Group’s reputation. 

The following table sets out the undiscounted contractual and expected cash flows for all financial liabilities (without interest): 

2021202120212021    

2020202020202020    

Dollars In Thousands    

Statement of Statement of Statement of Statement of 

Financial Financial Financial Financial 

PositionPositionPositionPosition    

Contractual Contractual Contractual Contractual 

Cash Out Cash Out Cash Out Cash Out 

FlowsFlowsFlowsFlows    

6 Months or 6 Months or 6 Months or 6 Months or 

LessLessLessLess    

6666----1212 1212 

MonthsMonthsMonthsMonths    

1111----22 22 

YearsYearsYearsYears  

2222----55 55 

YearsYearsYearsYears  

More More More More 

than 5 than 5 than 5 than 5 

YearsYearsYearsYears    

Interest-bearing loans and 

borrowings 1,000 1,000 1,000 - - - - 

Trade Payables  5,230 5,230 5,230 - - - - 

Other payables 24,771 24,771 24,771 - - - - 

Trade payables due to related 

parties 3,977 3,977 3,977 - - - - 

Total nonTotal nonTotal nonTotal non----derivative liabilderivative liabilderivative liabilderivative liabilitiesitiesitiesities    34,978 34,978 34,978 - - - - 

Dollars In Thousands    

Statement of Statement of Statement of Statement of 

Financial PositionFinancial PositionFinancial PositionFinancial Position    

Contractual Contractual Contractual Contractual 

Cash Out Cash Out Cash Out Cash Out 

FlowsFlowsFlowsFlows    

6 Months 6 Months 6 Months 6 Months 

or Lessor Lessor Lessor Less    

6666----1212 1212 

MonthsMonthsMonthsMonths    

1111----22 22 

YearsYearsYearsYears  

2222----55 55 

YearsYearsYearsYears  

More More More More 

than 5 than 5 than 5 than 5 

YearsYearsYearsYears    

Interest-bearing loans and 

borrowings 38,000 38,000 - - 38,000 - - 

Trade Payables  1,686 1,686 1,686 - - - - 

Other payables 22,380 22,380 22,380 - - - - 

Trade payables due to related 

parties 4,490 4,490 4,490 - - - - 

Total nonTotal nonTotal nonTotal non----derivative liabilitiesderivative liabilitiesderivative liabilitiesderivative liabilities    66,556 66,556 28,556 - 38,000 - - 
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17171717....  Financial instrumentsFinancial instrumentsFinancial instrumentsFinancial instruments    ----continuedcontinuedcontinuedcontinued  

Credit riskCredit riskCredit riskCredit risk    
Management has a credit policy in place and the exposure to credit risk is monitored on an ongoing basis. Credit evaluations are 
performed on all customers requiring credit over a certain amount. The Group does not require collateral in respect of financial assets. 
There are no significant aged debtors which have not been fully provided for. 

Investments are allowed only in short-term financial instruments and only with counterparties approved by the Board, such that the 
exposure to a single counterparty is minimised. 

At balance date there were no significant concentrations of credit risk. The maximum exposure to credit risk is represented by the 
carrying amount of each financial asset in the statement of financial position. 

The maximum exposure to credit risk in Australia is $5,000 (2020: $6,000). All other credit risk exposure relates to New Zealand. 

Market riskMarket riskMarket riskMarket risk    
(i) Interest rate risk(i) Interest rate risk(i) Interest rate risk(i) Interest rate risk  
In managing interest rate risks the Group aims to reduce the impact of short-term fluctuations on the Group’s earnings with an ongoing
review of its exposure to changes in interest rates on its borrowings, the maturity profile of the debt, and the cash flows of the
underlying debt. The Group maintains its borrowings at fixed rates on short term which gives the Group flexibility in the context of the
economic climate, business cycle, loan covenants, cash flows, and cash balances.

An increase of 1.0% in interest rates would have increased profit before tax for the Group in the current period by $1.61 million (2020: 
$1.07 million increase), assuming all other variables remained constant. 

Effective interesEffective interesEffective interesEffective interest and ret and ret and ret and re----pricing analysispricing analysispricing analysispricing analysis    
In respect of income-earning financial assets and interest-bearing financial liabilities the following table indicates their effective 
interest rates at the balance date and the periods in which they re-price.  

* These assets / (liabilities) bear interest at a fixed rate 

(ii)(ii) (ii)(ii) Foreign currency riskForeign currency riskForeign currency riskForeign currency risk  
The Group owns 100.00% (2020: 100.00%) of KIN Holdings Limited. Substantially all the operations of this subsidiary is denominated
in foreign currencies. The foreign currencies giving rise to this risk are Australian Dollars. The Group has determined that the primary
risk affects the carrying values of the net investments in its foreign operations with the currency movements being recognised in the
foreign currency translation reserves. The Group has not taken any instruments to manage this risk.

The Group is not exposed to any other foreign currency risks. 

Capital managementCapital managementCapital managementCapital management    
The Group’s capital includes share capital and retained earnings. 

The Group’s policy is to maintain a strong capital base so as to maintain investor, creditor and market confidence and to sustain future 
development of the business.  The impact of the level of capital on shareholders’ return is also recognised and the Group recognises 
the need to maintain a balance between the higher returns that might be possible with greater gearing and the advantages and 
security afforded by a sound capital position. 

The Group is not subject to any externally imposed capital requirements. 

The allocation of capital is, to a large extent, driven by optimisation of the return achieved on the capital allocated. 

The Group’s policies in respect of capital management and allocation are reviewed regularly by the Board of Directors. There were 
no changes in the Group’s capital management policies during the year. 

GroupGroupGroupGroup    2022022022021111    2020202020202020    

Dollars In Thousands 

Effective Effective Effective Effective 

interest interest interest interest 

raterateraterate    

TotalTotalTotalTotal    

6 6 6 6 

months months months months 

or lessor lessor lessor less    

6 to 12 6 to 12 6 to 12 6 to 12   

monthsmonthsmonthsmonths    

Effective Effective Effective Effective 

interest interest interest interest 

raterateraterate    

TotalTotalTotalTotal    

6 6 6 6 

months months months months 

or lessor lessor lessor less    

6 to 12 6 to 12 6 to 12 6 to 12   

monthsmonthsmonthsmonths    

NoteNoteNoteNote    

Interest bearing cash 

& cash equivalents * 13 

0.00% to 

0.79% 58,143 58,143 - 

0.00% to 

0.65% 20,766 20,766 - 

Short term bank 

deposits * 

0.35% to 

1.37% 121,496 23,668 97,828 

0.50% to 

1.83% 177,274 113,117 64,157 

Secured bank loans * 15 1.592% (1,000) (1,000) - 1.06% (38,000) (38,000) - 

Bank overdrafts * 15 1.592% - - - 1.06% - - - 
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17171717....  Financial instrumentsFinancial instrumentsFinancial instrumentsFinancial instruments    ----continuecontinuecontinuecontinuedddd  

Fair valuesFair valuesFair valuesFair values 
The fair values together with the carrying amounts shown in the statement of financial position are as follows: 

GroupGroupGroupGroup    Carrying Carrying Carrying Carrying 
amountamountamountamount    Fair valueFair valueFair valueFair value    

Carrying Carrying Carrying Carrying 
amountamountamountamount    Fair valueFair valueFair valueFair value    

Dollars In Thousands NoteNoteNoteNote    2022022022021111    2022022022021111    2020202020202020    2020202020202020    
LOANS AND RECEIVABLES 
Cash and cash equivalents  13 58,143 58,143 20,766 20,766 
Short term bank deposits 121,496 121,496 177,274 177,274 
Trade and other receivables 14 15,434 15,434 12,170 12,170 

OTHER LIABILITIES 
Secured bank loans and overdrafts 15 (1,000) (1,000) (38,000) (38,000) 
Trade and other payables 17 (30,001) (30,001) (24,068) (24,068) 
Trade payables due to related parties 21 (3,977) (3,977) (4,490) (4,490) 

111160606060,,,,095095095095    111160606060,,,,095095095095    111143434343,,,,652652652652    143143143143,,,,656565652222    

Unrecognised (losses) / gains - - - - 

Estimation of fair valuesEstimation of fair valuesEstimation of fair valuesEstimation of fair values    
The following summarises the major methods and assumptions used in estimating the fair values of financial instruments reflected in 
the table: 

(a) Cash, accounts receivable, accounts payable and related party balances. The carrying amounts for these balances approximate
their fair value because of the short maturities of these items.

(b) Borrowings. The carrying amounts for the borrowings represent their fair values because the interest rates are reset to market
periodically, every 1 to 2 months.

11118888....  Capital Capital Capital Capital and land development and land development and land development and land development commitmentscommitmentscommitmentscommitments  

As at 31 December 2021, the Group had entered into contractual commitments for capital expenditure, development expenditure, 
and purchases of land. Contractual agreements for the purchase of land are subject to a satisfactory outcome of the Group's due 
diligence process, board approval, and OIO approval. Development expenditure represents amounts contracted and forecast to be 
incurred in 2022 in accordance with the Group’s development programme. 

GroupGroupGroupGroup    
Dollars In Thousands    2022022022021111    2020202020202020    
Capital expenditure 1,888 958 
Development expenditure 20,858 19,696 
Land purchases 20,300 58,300 

43434343,,,,046046046046    78,95478,95478,95478,954    

19191919....  Related partiesRelated partiesRelated partiesRelated parties  

Identity of related partiesIdentity of related partiesIdentity of related partiesIdentity of related parties    
The Group has a related party relationship with its parent, subsidiaries (see Note 20), associates and with its directors and executive 
officers. 

Transactions with key management personnelTransactions with key management personnelTransactions with key management personnelTransactions with key management personnel    
Directors of the Company and their immediate relatives control nil (2020: Nil) of the voting shares of the Company. There were no 
loans (2020: $nil) advanced to directors for the year ended 31 December 2021. Key management personnel include the Board and 
the Executive Team. 

Total remuneration Total remuneration Total remuneration Total remuneration for key management personnelfor key management personnelfor key management personnelfor key management personnel    
GroupGroupGroupGroup    

Dollars In Thousands    2222021021021021    2020202020202020    
Non-executive directors 345 296 
Executive director 440 396 
Executive officers 812 699 

1,51,51,51,597979797    1,3911,3911,3911,391    

Non-executive directors receive director’s fees only. Executive director and executive officers receive short-term employee benefits 
which include a base salary and an incentive plan. They do not receive remuneration or any other benefits as a director of the Parent 
Company or its subsidiaries. Directors’ fees are included in “administration expenses” (see Note 2) and remuneration for executive 
director and executive officers are included in “personnel expenses” (see Note 3). 

22220000....  Group entitiesGroup entitiesGroup entitiesGroup entities  

Control of the GroupControl of the GroupControl of the GroupControl of the Group    
Millennium & Copthorne Hotels New Zealand Limited is a 75.78% (2020: 75.78%) owned (economic interests from both ordinary and 
preference shares) subsidiary of CDL Hotels Holdings New Zealand Limited which is a wholly owned subsidiary of Millennium & 
Copthorne Hotels plc in the United Kingdom. The ultimate parent company is Hong Leong Investment Holdings Pte Ltd in Singapore. 
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22220000....  Group entitiesGroup entitiesGroup entitiesGroup entities    - continued

At balance date there were related party advances owing from/(owing to) the following related companies: 
GroupGroupGroupGroup    

Dollars In Thousands    Nature of balanceNature of balanceNature of balanceNature of balance    2022022022021111    2020202020202020    
Trade payables Trade payables Trade payables Trade payables and receivables and receivables and receivables and receivables due to related due to related due to related due to related 
partiespartiespartiesparties    
Millennium & Copthorne Hotels plc Recharge of expenses (2,863) (2,788) 
Millennium & Copthorne International Limited Recharge of expenses 67 137 
CDL Hotels Holdings New Zealand Limited  Recharge of expenses 96 - 
CDLHT (BVI) One Ltd Rent payment (1,277) (1,839) 

((((3333,,,,977977977977))))    ((((4,4904,4904,4904,490))))    

Loans due to related partiesLoans due to related partiesLoans due to related partiesLoans due to related parties    
CDL Hotels Holdings New Zealand Limited Inter-company loan    - - 

----    ----    

No debts with related parties were written off or forgiven during the year. No interest was charged on these payables during 2021 and 
2020. There are no set repayment terms. There is no fee charged by Millennium & Copthorne International Limited for 2021, which 
was replaced by a fixed annual fee of $154,000 charged by M&C Reservation Services Ltd (UK) for the provision of management and 
marketing support in 2021. 

From September 2019, the Group renewed the management agreement of Grand Millennium Auckland with CDLHT (BVI) One Ltd, 
a subsidiary of CDL Hospitality Trusts Singapore. Under the accounting standards, the Group accounts for the results of the Grand 
Millennium Auckland on a net basis. The Group records the management, franchise and incentive incomes derived from the 
management of the hotel in the profit and loss. At the balance sheet date, there was an amount owing to CDLHT (BVI) One Ltd of 
$1.28 million (2020 $1.84 million) being rent payable with respect to the leasing of the property. During the year ended 31 December 
2021, the Group received $1.56 million (2020: $1.37 million) in management, franchise, and incentive fees.  

At the balance sheet date, the company has fully repaid the loan due to CDL Hotels Holdings New Zealand Limited which was interest 
bearing.  

During the year consulting fees of $10,197 (2020: $10,600) were paid to Bobb Management Pty Ltd of which Mr. R Bobb (Director) 
is a shareholder and director. Mr Bobb received these fees in his capacity as a director of the Kingsgate Holdings Pty Limited and 
subsidiaries in Australia. He retired as director of the Australian companies on 15 December 2021. 

Subsidiary cSubsidiary cSubsidiary cSubsidiary companiesompaniesompaniesompanies    
The principal subsidiary companies of Millennium & Copthorne Hotels New Zealand Limited included in the consolidation as at 31 
December 2021 are: 

Principal Activity 
Principal 
Place of 
Business 

Group 
Holding % 

2021 

Group 
Holding % 

2020 
Context Securities Limited Investment Holding NZ 100.00 100.00 
Copthorne Hotel & Resort Bay of Islands Joint 
Venture 

Hotel Operations NZ 49.00 49.00 

Quantum LimitedQuantum LimitedQuantum LimitedQuantum Limited    Holding Company NZ 100.00 100.00 
100% owned subsidiaries of Quantum Limited are: 
Hospitality Group Limited Holding Company NZ 
100% owned subsidiaries of Hospitality Group 
Limited are: 
Hospitality Leases Limited Lessee Company/Hotel 

Operations 
NZ 

QINZ Anzac Avenue Limited Hotel Owner NZ 
Hospitality Services Limited Hotel Operations/Franchise 

Holder 
NZ 

CDL Investments New Zealand LimitedCDL Investments New Zealand LimitedCDL Investments New Zealand LimitedCDL Investments New Zealand Limited    Holding Company NZ 66.29 65.87 
100% owned subsidiaries of CDL Investments New 
Zealand Limited are: 
CDL Land New Zealand Limited Property Investment and 

Development 
NZ 

KIN Holdings LimitedKIN Holdings LimitedKIN Holdings LimitedKIN Holdings Limited    Holding Company NZ 100.00 100.00 
100% owned subsidiaries of KIN Holdings Limited 
are: 
Kingsgate Investments Pty Limited Residential Apartment 

Developer 
Australia 

All of the above subsidiaries have a 31 December balance date. 

Although the Group owns less than half of the voting power of the Copthorne Hotel & Resort Bay of Islands Joint Venture, it is able 
to control the financial and operating policies of the Copthorne Hotel & Resort Bay of Islands Joint Venture so as to obtain benefits 
from its activities by virtue of an agreement with the other parties of the Joint Venture. Therefore, the results of the Joint Venture are 
consolidated from the date control commenced until the date control ceases. 



FIN 23 

Millennium & Copthorne Hotels New Zealand Limited Millennium & Copthorne Hotels New Zealand Limited Millennium & Copthorne Hotels New Zealand Limited Millennium & Copthorne Hotels New Zealand Limited 
Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements for the year ended 31 December 2021 

22220000....  GrouGrouGrouGroup entitiesp entitiesp entitiesp entities    - continued

SubsidiariesSubsidiariesSubsidiariesSubsidiaries    
Subsidiaries are entities controlled by the Company. The Company controls an entity when it is exposed to, or has rights to, variable 
returns from its involvement with the entity and has the ability to affect those returns through its power over the entity. The financial 
statements of subsidiaries are included in the financial statements from the date that control commences until the date that control 
ceases. 

Transactions eliminated on consolidationTransactions eliminated on consolidationTransactions eliminated on consolidationTransactions eliminated on consolidation    
Intra-group balances and any unrealised gains and losses or income and expenses arising from intra-group transactions, are 
eliminated in preparing the financial statements. Unrealised gains arising from transactions with jointly controlled entities are 
eliminated to the extent of the Group’s interest in the entity. Unrealised losses are eliminated in the same way as unrealised gains, 
but only to the extent that there is no evidence of impairment. 

22221111....  Accounting estimates and judgementsAccounting estimates and judgementsAccounting estimates and judgementsAccounting estimates and judgements  

Management discussed with the Audit Committee the development, selection and disclosure of the Group’s critical accounting policies 
and estimates and the application of these policies and estimates. 

Critical accounting judgements in applying the Group’s accounting policiesCritical accounting judgements in applying the Group’s accounting policiesCritical accounting judgements in applying the Group’s accounting policiesCritical accounting judgements in applying the Group’s accounting policies    
Certain critical accounting judgements in applying the Group’s accounting policies are described below. 

Development propertyDevelopment propertyDevelopment propertyDevelopment property    
The Group is also exposed to a risk of impairment to development properties should the carrying value exceeds the market value due 
to market fluctuations in the value of development properties.  However, there is no indication of impairment as the market value of 
development properties significantly exceeds the carrying value determined by an independent registered valuer.   

In determining fair values, the valuers make assumptions relating to section prices, sell down periods, consumer confidence, 
unemployment rates, interest rates and external economic factors. 

Property, plant, and eProperty, plant, and eProperty, plant, and eProperty, plant, and equipmentquipmentquipmentquipment    and investment propertyand investment propertyand investment propertyand investment property    
The Group determines whether tangible fixed assets are impaired when indicators of impairments exist or based on the annual 
impairment assessment. The annual assessment requires an estimate of the recoverable value of the cash generating units to which 
the tangible fixed assets are allocated, which is predominantly at the individual hotel site level. Where appropriate, external valuations 
are also undertaken. Estimation of the recoverable value of the hotel assets is done with reference to fair value less cost to sell, using 
income approach, which requires estimation of future cash flows of a third-party efficient operator, the time period over which they 
will occur, an appropriate discount rates, terminal capitalization rates and growth rates. The Directors consider that the assumptions 
made represent their best estimate, and that the discount rate and terminal capitalisation rate used are appropriate given the risks 
associated with the specific cash flows. 

22222222.. .. LeaseLeaseLeaseLease    

At inception of a contract, the Group assesses whether a contract is, or contains, a lease. A contract is, or contains, a lease if the 
contract conveys the right to control the use of an identified asset for a period of time in exchange for consideration. To assess 
whether a contract conveys the right to control the use of an identified asset, the Group uses the definition of a lease in NZ IFRS 16. 
This policy is applied to contracts entered into, on or after 1 January 2019. 

At commencement or on modification of a contract that contains a lease component, the Group allocates the consideration in the 
contract to each lease component on the basis of its relative stand-alone prices.     

The Group recognises a right-of-use asset and a lease liability at the lease commencement date. The right-of-use asset was 
recognised at cost on initial recognition, which comprised the initial amount of the lease liability adjusted for any lease payments 
made at or before the commencement date, plus any initial direct costs incurred and an estimate of costs to dismantle and remove 
the underlying asset or to restore the underlying asset or the site on which it is located, less any lease incentives received. 

The right of use asset is depreciated using the straight-line method from the commencement date to the end of the lease term, 
unless the lease transfers ownership of the underlying asset to the Group by the end of the lease term or the cost of the right-of-
use asset reflects that the Group will exercise a purchase option. In that case the right-of-use asset will be depreciated over the 
useful life of the underlying asset, which is determined on the same basis as those of property and equipment. In addition, the right-
of-use asset is periodically reduced by impairment losses, if any, and adjusted for certain re-measurements of the lease liability. 

22222222(a)(a)(a)(a)    Lease LiabilityLease LiabilityLease LiabilityLease Liability 
The expected contractual undiscounted cash outflows of lease liabilities are as follows: 

GroupGroupGroupGroup    
Dollars In Thousands    2022022022021111    2020202020202020    
Less than 6 months 237 218 
More than 6 months but within 12 months 220 260 
More than 1 year but within 2 years 135 354 
More than 2 years but within 5 years  102 178 
After 5 years 15,621 13,473 

16161616,,,,315315315315    14141414,,,,483483483483    

The lease liability is initially measured at the present value of the lease payments that are not paid at the commencement date, 
discounted using the interest rate implicit in the lease or, if that rate cannot be readily determined, the Group’s incremental borrowing 
rate. Generally, the Group uses its incremental borrowing rate as the discount rate. 
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22.22.22.22.  Lease Lease Lease Lease -continued

The Group determines its incremental borrowing rate by obtaining interest rates from various external financing sources and makes 
certain adjustments to reflect the terms of the lease and type of the asset leased. 

Lease payments included in the measurement of the lease liability comprise the following: 
- fixed payments, including in-substance fixed payments;
- variable lease payments that depend on an index or a rate, initially measured using the index or rate as at the commencement

date;
- amounts expected to be payable under a residual value guarantee; and

- the exercise price under a purchase option that the Group is reasonably certain to exercise, lease payments in an optional
renewal period if the Group is reasonably certain to exercise an extension option, and penalties for early termination of a lease
unless the Group is reasonably certain not to terminate early.

The lease liability is measured at amortised cost using the effective interest method. It is remeasured when there is a change in 
future lease payments arising from a change in an index or rate, if there is a change in the Group’s estimate of the amount expected 
to be payable under a residual value guarantee, if the Group changes its assessment of whether it will exercise a purchase, 
extension or termination option or if there is a revised in-substance fixed lease payment. 

When the lease liability is remeasured in this way, a corresponding adjustment is made to the carrying amount of the right-of-use 
asset, or is recorded in profit or loss if the carrying amount of the right-of-use asset has been reduced to zero. 

The Group presents right-of-use assets that do not meet the definition of investment property in ‘property, plant and equipment’ and 
lease liabilities in the statement of financial position. 

ShortShortShortShort----term leases and leases of lowterm leases and leases of lowterm leases and leases of lowterm leases and leases of low----value assetsvalue assetsvalue assetsvalue assets    

The Group has elected not to recognise right-of-use assets and lease liabilities for leases of low-value assets and short-term leases, 
including IT equipment. The Group recognises the lease payments associated with these leases as an expense on a straight-line 
basis over the lease term. 

22222222((((bbbb))))    Schedule of rightSchedule of rightSchedule of rightSchedule of right----ofofofof----use assets by classuse assets by classuse assets by classuse assets by class    

Right-of-use 
Assets 

Dollars In 
Thousands 

Lease 
term 

Restated 
carrying 
value @ 
01/01/21 

Depreciation 
on right-of-use 

asset 
for the year 

Addition 
during 
the year 

Disposal 
during the 

year 

Movement 
in foreign 
exchange 

Carrying 
value @ 
31/12/21 

Land sites at 
hotels 

Renewal 
at 21 year 
cycles for 
perpetuity 

14,158 (553) 2,242 - - 15,847 

Corporate office 
building and 
hotel carpark 

Between 
5 to 23 
years 

655 (291) - - - 364 

Motor vehicles Between 
12 to 45 
months 

194 (117) 34 - - 111 

Totals 15,007 (961) 2,276 - - 16,322 

22222222(c)(c)(c)(c)    Schedule of lease liabilities by classSchedule of lease liabilities by classSchedule of lease liabilities by classSchedule of lease liabilities by class    

Dollars In 
Thousands 

Lease 
term 

Carrying 
value @ 
01/01/21 

Interest expense 
for the year 

Addition 
during 
the year 

Disposal 
during the 

year 

Lease 
payment for 
the year 

Carrying 
value @ 
31/12/21 

Land sites at hotels Renewal 
at 21 year 
cycles for 
perpetuity 

12,558 1,056 2,242 -  (1,081) 14,775 

Corporate office 
building and hotel 
carpark 

Between 
5 to 23 
years 

1,709 52 - - (349) 1,412 

Motor vehicles Between 
12 to 45 
months 

216 25 34 - (147) 128 

Totals 14,483 1,133 2,276 - (1,577) 16,315 
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22.22.22.22.  Lease Lease Lease Lease -continued

22222222((((dddd))))    Exemptions and eExemptions and eExemptions and eExemptions and exclusionsxclusionsxclusionsxclusions  

Exempted were motor vehicle leases shorter than 12 months and leased assets with value below $8,000. Excluded 
were variable rentals and lease payments. The following table summarizes these leases by class: 

Dollars In 
Thousands 

Expense 
recognised in 
the Profit & 

Loss 

Lease 
commitments @ 

31/12/21 

Lease 
commitments within 

one year 

Lease 
commitments 

between one and 
5 years 

Lease 
commitments 
more than 5 

years 

Short term leases 
<12 months 65 49 49 - - 
Low value leased 
assets  1 7 1 6 - 
Variable lease 
payments under 
service and 
management 
contracts 

234 15,103 602 2,022 12,479 

Total 300 15,159 652 2,028 12,479 

22223333. New standard. New standard. New standard. New standard    and interpretations issued but not yet adoptedand interpretations issued but not yet adoptedand interpretations issued but not yet adoptedand interpretations issued but not yet adopted    

A number of new standards are effective for annual periods beginning after 1 January 2021 and earlier application is permitted. 
However, with the exception of Classification of Liabilities as Current or Non-current (Amendments to NZ IAS 1) the Group has not 
early adopted any new or amended standards in preparing the consolidated financial statements; refer to Significant Accounting 
Policies, part (c).    

The following amended standards and interpretations are not expected to have a significant impact on the Group’s consolidated 
financial statements: 

• Onerous Contracts – Cost of Fulfilling a Contract (Amendments to NZ IAS 37)
• Interest Rate Benchmark Reform - Phase 2 (Amendments to NZ IFRS 9, IAS 39, NZ IFRS 7, NZ IFRS 4 and NZ IFRS

16)
• COVID-19-Related Rent Concessions (Amendments to NZ IAS 16)
• COVID-19-Related Rent Concessions beyond 30 June 2021 (Amendments to NZ IAS 16)
• Property, Plant and Equipment: Proceeds before Intended Use (Amendments to NZ IAS 16)
• Reference to Conceptual Framework (Amendments to NZ IFRS 3)
• Annual Improvements to IFRS Standards 2048-2020

22224444. Assets classified as held for sale. Assets classified as held for sale. Assets classified as held for sale. Assets classified as held for sale  

In August 2020, the Group signed a sale and purchase agreement for the vacant land at 776 Colombo Street, Christchurch. The sale 
of the land was unconditional at 31 December 2020 and was settled in May 2021. This land, which was recognised as held-for-sale 
at 31 December 2020, was restated to cost of $2.13 million as a result of the Group’s change in accounting policy (Note 25).  

Non-current assets are classified as held for sale if it is highly probable that they will be recovered primarily through sale rather than 
through continuing use. Such assets are measured at the lower of carrying amount and fair value less costs to sell. Gains and losses 
on re-measurement are recognised in the income statement as Other Income. Once classified as held for sale, property plant and 
equipment are no longer amortised or depreciated. 

22225555.. .. Change in accounting policyChange in accounting policyChange in accounting policyChange in accounting policy  

The Group has changed its accounting policy in respect of the measurement of land and buildings. Since the conversion to NZ 
IFRS in 2005, the Group have been recording land and buildings at fair value while the immediate parent and the group worldwide 
have been carrying land and buildings at cost. The Directors consider the measurement of hotel land and buildings at cost provides 
a more reliable, relevant, and consistent measure of the underlying performance of the Group for the following reasons: 

• The costs of running the hotels are more relevant to users than the fair value of the buildings as there is no intention to
sell;

• The key assumptions in the fair value measurement are highly sensitive which makes this a volatile measurement. This is
exacerbated by current market conditions, including the covid pandemic, and is already subject to significant judgment;
and

• The cost method aligns with the treatment generally applied by similar entities in the market, and hence provides a more
comparable information to users.

In July 2021, the Group made the decision to restate the land and buildings from fair value to cost in order to align with the group 
accounting policy. The restatement to cost for land and building took effect from 1 January 2005 and the comparatives are restated 
to reflect the changes.  
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22225555.. .. Change in accounting policy Change in accounting policy Change in accounting policy Change in accounting policy - continued

The following tables summarise the impacts on the Group’s consolidated financial statements. 

22225555(a) (a) (a) (a) ConsolidatConsolidatConsolidatConsolidated Statement of Financial Positioned Statement of Financial Positioned Statement of Financial Positioned Statement of Financial Position    as at as at as at as at 1 January 20201 January 20201 January 20201 January 2020    

Impact on change of account policyImpact on change of account policyImpact on change of account policyImpact on change of account policy    

DOLLARS IN THOUSANDSDOLLARS IN THOUSANDSDOLLARS IN THOUSANDSDOLLARS IN THOUSANDS    
As previously As previously As previously As previously 
reportedreportedreportedreported    AdjustmentsAdjustmentsAdjustmentsAdjustments    As Restated As Restated As Restated As Restated 

SHAREHOLDERS’ EQUITYSHAREHOLDERS’ EQUITYSHAREHOLDERS’ EQUITYSHAREHOLDERS’ EQUITY 
Reserves 332,013 (278,770) 53,243 
Non-controlling interests 91,747 (4,291) 87,456 
Others 383,240 - 383,240
Total equity Total equity Total equity Total equity     807807807807,,,,000000000000    (283(283(283(283,,,,061)061)061)061)    523523523523,,,,939939939939

Property, plant and equipment 591,749 (338,510) 253,239
Others 416,452 - 416,452
Total assetsTotal assetsTotal assetsTotal assets    1111,,,,000008080808,,,,201201201201    (338(338(338(338,,,,510)510)510)510)    669669669669,,,,691691691691

Provision for deferred taxation 84,968 (53,473) 31,495 
Income tax payable 5,818 (1,976) 3,842 
Others 110,415 - 110,415
Total liabilitiesTotal liabilitiesTotal liabilitiesTotal liabilities    201201201201,,,,201201201201    ((((55555555,,,,449)449)449)449)    145145145145,,,,752752752752

22225555(b(b(b(b) Consolidated Statement of Financial Position) Consolidated Statement of Financial Position) Consolidated Statement of Financial Position) Consolidated Statement of Financial Position    as at as at as at as at 33331 1 1 1 DecembDecembDecembDecemberererer    2020202020202020    

Impact on change of account policyImpact on change of account policyImpact on change of account policyImpact on change of account policy    

DOLLARS IN THOUSANDSDOLLARS IN THOUSANDSDOLLARS IN THOUSANDSDOLLARS IN THOUSANDS    
As previously As previously As previously As previously 
reportedreportedreportedreported    AdjustmentsAdjustmentsAdjustmentsAdjustments    As Restated As Restated As Restated As Restated 

SHAREHOLDERS’ EQUITYSHAREHOLDERS’ EQUITYSHAREHOLDERS’ EQUITYSHAREHOLDERS’ EQUITY 
Reserves 360,407 (268,977) 91,430 
Non-controlling interests 99,352 (4,040) 95,312 
Others 383,240 - 383,240
Total equity Total equity Total equity Total equity     842842842842,,,,999999999999    (273(273(273(273,,,,017)017)017)017)    569569569569,,,,982982982982

Property, plant and equipment 566,090 (318,182) 247,908
Asset held for sale 7,708 (5,578) 2,130 
Others 414,111 - 414,111
Total assetsTotal assetsTotal assetsTotal assets    987,909987,909987,909987,909    (3(3(3(323232323,,,,760760760760))))    666666664444,,,,149149149149

Provision for deferred taxation 60,077 (50,743) 9,334 
Others 84,833 - 84,833
Total liabilitiesTotal liabilitiesTotal liabilitiesTotal liabilities    144144144144,,,,910910910910    (50(50(50(50,,,,743)743)743)743)    94949494,,,,167167167167
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22225555.. .. Change in accounting policy Change in accounting policy Change in accounting policy Change in accounting policy - continued

22225 5 5 5 (c) (c) (c) (c) Consolidated Income StatementConsolidated Income StatementConsolidated Income StatementConsolidated Income Statement    and Other Comprehensive Incomeand Other Comprehensive Incomeand Other Comprehensive Incomeand Other Comprehensive Income    ffffor the year ended 3or the year ended 3or the year ended 3or the year ended 31 1 1 1 
DecemberDecemberDecemberDecember    2020202020202020    

Impact on change of account policyImpact on change of account policyImpact on change of account policyImpact on change of account policy    

DOLLARS IN THOUSANDSDOLLARS IN THOUSANDSDOLLARS IN THOUSANDSDOLLARS IN THOUSANDS    
As previously As previously As previously As previously 
reportedreportedreportedreported    AdjustmentsAdjustmentsAdjustmentsAdjustments    As Restated As Restated As Restated As Restated 

Administrative expenses (22,368) 1,780 (20,588) 
Other operating expense (20,280) 1,747 (18,533) 
Income tax expense 5,394 (988) 4,406 
Others 93,539 - 93,539
Profit for the yearProfit for the yearProfit for the yearProfit for the year        56,28556,28556,28556,285    2,2,2,2,539539539539    55558888,,,,824824824824

Owners of the parent 45,963 2,520 48,483
Non-controlling interests 10,322 19 10,341

Basic earnings per share (cents) 29.05 1.59 30.64 
Diluted earnings per share (cents)    29.05 1.59 30.64 

Revaluation/impairment of property, 
plant and equipment    (11,223) 11,223 - 
- Tax expense on 
revaluation/impairment of property, plant 
and equipment    3,718 (3,718) - 
Others 1,620 - 1,620 
Other comprehensive incomeOther comprehensive incomeOther comprehensive incomeOther comprehensive income (5,885) 7,505 1,620 

Owners of the parent 40,310 9,793 50,103 
Non-controlling interests 10,090 251 10,341 
TotalTotalTotalTotal    comprehensive incomecomprehensive incomecomprehensive incomecomprehensive income 50,400 10,044 60,444 

22226666....  CONTINGENT LIABILITIESCONTINGENT LIABILITIESCONTINGENT LIABILITIESCONTINGENT LIABILITIES  

The Group’s subsidiaries, CDL Investments New Zealand Limited and subsidiary, have been named as respondents in a High Court 
judicial review proceeding which has been brought by the Applicant, Winton Property Investments Limited, in relation to a recent 
decision relating to the Group’s acquisition of land in Havelock North which was advised to the market on 21 July 2021 and which 
has settled. The Applicant is seeking, inter alia, an order setting aside the decision of the Overseas Investment Office in respect of 
the approval and/or a declaration that Ministers erred at law in making their decision to grant consent. The Group will vigorously 
defend its position and consider the likelihood of the applicant being successful as low. It is not possible to determine what the financial 
effect would be, if any, should the application be successful. 
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Independent Auditor’s Report 
To the shareholders of Millennium & Copthorne Hotels New Zealand Limited 

Report on the audit of the consolidated financial statements 

Opinion 
In our opinion, the accompanying consolidated 
financial statements of Millennium & Copthorne 
Hotels New Zealand Limited (the ’company’) and its 
subsidiaries (the 'group') on pages 1 to 27: 

i. present fairly in all material respects the 
Group’s financial position as at 31 December 
2021 and its financial performance and cash 
flows for the year ended on that date; and 

ii. comply with New Zealand Equivalents to 
International Financial Reporting Standards and 
International Financial Reporting Standards. 

We have audited the accompanying consolidated 
financial statements which comprise: 

— the consolidated statement of financial position 
as at 31 December 2021; 

— the consolidated statements of comprehensive 
income, changes in equity and cash flows for 
the year then ended; and 

— notes, including a summary of significant 
accounting policies and other explanatory 
information. 

 Basis for opinion 

We conducted our audit in accordance with International Standards on Auditing (New Zealand) (‘ISAs (NZ)’). We 
believe that the audit evidence we have obtained is sufficient and appropriate to provide a basis for our opinion. 

We are independent of the group in accordance with Professional and Ethical Standard 1 International Code of 
Ethics for Assurance Practitioners (Including International Independence Standards) (New Zealand) issued by the 
New Zealand Auditing and Assurance Standards Board and the International Ethics Standards Board for 
Accountants’ International Code of Ethics for Professional Accountants (including International Independence 
Standards) (‘IESBA Code’), and we have fulfilled our other ethical responsibilities in accordance with these 
requirements and the IESBA Code.  

Our responsibilities under ISAs (NZ) are further described in the auditor’s responsibilities for the audit of the 
consolidated financial statements section of our report. 

Our firm has also provided other services to the group in relation to taxation compliance and taxation advisory. 
Subject to certain restrictions, partners and employees of our firm may also deal with the group on normal terms 
within the ordinary course of trading activities of the business of the group. These matters have not impaired our 
independence as auditor of the group. The firm has no other relationship with, or interest in, the group.  

 Materiality 

The scope of our audit was influenced by our application of materiality. Materiality helped us to determine the 
nature, timing and extent of our audit procedures and to evaluate the effect of misstatements, both individually 
and on the consolidated financial statements as a whole. The materiality for the consolidated financial 
statements as a whole was set at $4 million determined with reference to a benchmark of group’s total assets. 
We chose the benchmark because, in our view, this is a key measure of the group’s performance.  
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Key audit matters 

Key audit matters are those matters that, in our professional judgement, were of most significance in our audit 
of the consolidated financial statements in the current period. We summarise below those matters and our key 
audit procedures to address those matters in order that the shareholders as a body may better understand the 
process by which we arrived at our audit opinion. Our procedures were undertaken in the context of and solely 
for the purpose of our statutory audit opinion on the consolidated financial statements as a whole and we do not 
express discrete opinions on separate elements of the consolidated financial statements 

The key audit matter How the matter was addressed in our audit 

Change in accounting policy – Measurement of Hotel Land and Buildings 

Refer to note 25 of the consolidated financial 
statements.  

The Group has changed its accounting policy 
to recognise hotel land and buildings assets 
at their original cost less depreciation and 
impairment as it is a reliable and more 
relevant measure of the underlying financial 
position and financial performance of the 
Group. This presentation also aligns to the 
accounting policy of the groups ultimate 
parent.  These assets have previously been 
recognised at their fair value since the Group 
adopted NZ IFRS in 2004.   

The change in accounting policy required 
restatement of the carrying values of hotel 
land and building assets, reversal of 
revaluation adjustments and related deferred 
taxation to present the assets as if they had 
always been recognised under the cost 
approach in accordance with NZ IAS 36.  
These adjustments required the creation of 
new fixed asset registers by management 
from 2004 through to 2020, and materially 
impacted the financial position and financial 
performance of the Group in each of these 
financial years.  The net assets of the Group 
reduced from $807 million to $524 million as 
at 1 January 2020. 

We focused on the restatement of the hotel 
land and building assets due to the magnitude 
of the impact of the restatement on the 
consolidated financial statements, the large 
number of material adjustments required and 
complexity of recreating accounting registers 
and records from 2004.   

We performed the following procedures over the restatement 
of hotel land and buildings:  

− Evaluated the overall approach and sources of
information used for the creation of the fixed asset
registers applying the cost approach.

− Reconciled the fixed asset registers to the closing cost
and accumulated depreciation recorded in the audited
statutory financial statements of the Group as at 31
December 2004.

− Reconciled the cost of additions recorded in the fixed
asset registers from 1 January 2005 to 31 December
2020 to the audited statutory financial statements issued
in each of these years.

− Recalculated accumulated depreciation recognised in the
fixed asset registers based on the cost of each asset and
its date put into use for the period from 31 December
2004 to 31 December 2020.

− Recalculated the carrying value of hotel land and buildings 
recognised in the fixed asset registers.

− Recalculated the carrying value of material asset
disposals between 1 January 2005 and 31 December
2020 applying the cost approach and assessed whether
the correct amount of cost and accumulated depreciation
was removed from the fixed asset registers.

− Assessed the reasonableness of depreciation expense
for the 2020 financial year.

− Reconciled the fixed asset registers to the property, plant
equipment and restatement note disclosures in the
consolidated financial statements and assessed whether
restatement adjustments were appropriate.

− Reviewed the restatement disclosure in the consolidated
financial statements and assessed whether it was in
accordance with the requirements of NZ IAS 8.

Our testing concluded the restatement of the consolidated 
financial statements to recognise the hotel land and buildings 
at cost to be appropriate. 



30 

Other information 

The Directors, on behalf of the group, are responsible for the other information included in the entity’s Annual 
Report. Other information includes the Chairman’s Review, Managing Director’s Review, disclosures relating to 
corporate governance, the financial summary and the other information included in the Annual Report. Our 
opinion on the consolidated financial statements does not cover any other information and we do not express 
any form of assurance conclusion thereon.  

In connection with our audit of the consolidated financial statements our responsibility is to read the other 
information and, in doing so, consider whether the other information is materially inconsistent with the 
consolidated financial statements or our knowledge obtained in the audit or otherwise appears materially 
misstated. If, based on the work we have performed, we conclude that there is a material misstatement of this 
other information, we are required to report that fact. We have received the Chairman’s review and have nothing 
to report in regards to it. The Annual Report is expected to be made available to us after the date of this 
Independent Auditor’s Report and we will report the matters identified, if any, to those charged with governance. 

Use of this independent auditor’s report 

This independent auditor’s report is made solely to the shareholders as a body. Our audit work has been 
undertaken so that we might state to the shareholders those matters we are required to state to them in the 
independent auditor’s report and for no other purpose. To the fullest extent permitted by law, we do not accept 
or assume responsibility to anyone other than the shareholders as a body for our audit work, this independent 
auditor’s report, or any of the opinions we have formed.   

 Responsibilities of the Directors for the consolidated financial 

statements 
The Directors, on behalf of the company, are responsible for: 

— the preparation and fair presentation of the consolidated financial statements in accordance with generally
accepted accounting practice in New Zealand (being New Zealand Equivalents to International Financial 
Reporting Standards) and International Financial Reporting Standards; 

— implementing necessary internal control to enable the preparation of a consolidated set of financial
statements that is fairly presented and free from material misstatement, whether due to fraud or error; and 

— assessing the ability to continue as a going concern. This includes disclosing, as applicable, matters related
to going concern and using the going concern basis of accounting unless they either intend to liquidate or to 
cease operations, or have no realistic alternative but to do so. 

Auditor’s responsibilities for the audit of the consolidated financial 

statements 
Our objective is: 

— to obtain reasonable assurance about whether the consolidated financial statements as a whole are free
from material misstatement, whether due to fraud or error; and 

— to issue an independent auditor’s report that includes our opinion.

Reasonable assurance is a high level of assurance, but is not a guarantee that an audit conducted in accordance 
with ISAs NZ will always detect a material misstatement when it exists. 
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Misstatements can arise from fraud or error. They are considered material if, individually or in the aggregate, 
they could reasonably be expected to influence the economic decisions of users taken on the basis of these 
consolidated financial statements. 

A further description of our responsibilities for the audit of these consolidated financial statements is located at 
the External Reporting Board (XRB) website at: 

http://www.xrb.govt.nz/standards-for-assurance-practitioners/auditors-responsibilities/audit-report-1/ 

This description forms part of our independent auditor’s report. 

The engagement partner on the audit resulting in this independent auditor's report is Aaron Woolsey 

For and on behalf of 

KPMG 
Auckland 

18 February 2022 




